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Tuesday, June 24, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter, members of the panel.  I just wanted to draw it to your attention.  Yesterday we had undertaken to take a look at -- it's Undertaking 8.1, to take a look at the issue of the 1,200 overband employees in the Auditor General's report and to report back.

We have provided Undertaking 8.1.  We filed it.  We have circulated it to my friends this morning, and you should have copies on the dais, so that is the response to that question.  The 972.

MS. DUFF:  Just, the date as at -- this is --


MR. SMITH:  I believe that is as at today.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, do you have any preliminary matters?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I did have one quick matter, Madam Chair.  I think there was an agreement to have an undertaking yesterday that we actually failed to assign an undertaking number to, and I just wanted to clear that up with the assistance of my friend.

I don't know if you have the transcript, but for reference, this discussion took place starting at page 111.  There was a discussion between -- mostly between myself and Ms. Ladak and Mr. Fitzsimmons, and we had asked for an undertaking to provide the number of director-level and above positions associated with business transformation.  You may recall that.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  I think there was an agreement to do that, but we never actually assigned it an undertaking number.  So I propose to call that -- since it is day nine now we will call it J9.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF DIRECTOR-LEVEL AND ABOVE POSITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION.

MR. MILLAR:  And then following that, there was some additional discussion between Ms. Long and the panel, and she, I believe -- and if I have misstated this she can let me know -- she was interested in knowing the similar numbers for the Darlington refurbishment project, and I think there was an agreement to provide that as well.  But that also was not assigned an undertaking number.

So assuming there is no concerns from OPG, that can either be part of J9.1 or a different number.  I'm indifferent.

MR. SMITH:  We had for our own record-keeping marked them as 8.2 and 8.3, and they're in the works.  Whatever the Board would like in terms of the numbering, but...

MR. MILLAR:  If they have done them separately we can do the same.  And just to keep the transcript straight, I am going to call them J9.1 and J9.2, because they will appear on this transcript.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO PROVIDE SIMILAR NUMBERS FOR DARLINGTON REFURBISHMENT PROJECT.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  I think we are ready for your cross-examination, Mr. Rubenstein, on behalf of School Energy Coalition.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5, resumed


Lubna Ladak, Previously Affirmed


Jason Fitzsimmons, Previously Affirmed


Ali Earle, Previously Affirmed


Richard Chaykowski, Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  Just to give you an explanation of what I plan to do this morning, I am counsel with Mr. Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.  I will be asking questions on corporate costs and compensation generally.  That should take us at least to the break.  Mr. Shepherd will have some specific questions on the issues of pensions and post-employment benefits, and then afterwards -- I presume that would be the best time to do it -- there will be a confidential part of my cross-examination.

If I could ask that you have two documents in front of you.  The first is -- it's a School Energy cross-examination compendium, Panel 5, number 1.  If we can mark that.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K9.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  VOLUME 1 OF SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the second document is KT2.4.  This is the Auditor General's report.

If we could -- I am just making sure everybody has all the documents.  I want to start first, though -- we spoke at length yesterday with Mr. Millar about compensation costs.  I want to start actually with corporate costs today.  And if we can turn to page number 2 of our compendium.  This is from the pre-filed evidence.

If we look at line 6 -- this is the total corporate support and administration groups -- we see an increase from 2011 -- a significant increase between 2011 and 2012.

Am I correct that this is based on business transformation change which brought more employees and functions which originally are located with each of the various generation groups to the centre?  This is the centre-led organization initiative that panel 1 spoke of?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, can I ask, for 2014 and 2015, there's a production from the 2013 budgeted amount.  Are you confident with the forecast for 2014 and 2015?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I am confident with that forecast.  As a result of bringing these groups together we're implementing efficiencies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you're confident that the reductions will be at those levels?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  We have initiatives in place to achieve those levels.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, your budgeted -- based on the evidence, the budgeted for 2013 amount was 597.9 million, and if we turn to page 3 -- this is the actual numbers for 2013 -- we see an actual number of 562.8 million, so a significant difference from the budgeted amount.

What would be the basis of that?  What was the reason for that?

MS. LADAK:  There's several factors.  One is a deferral of our rate application that we had planned -- this is going back to 2013 to 2015 business plan.  That was one of the reasons.

In addition, we had some strategic initiatives that came in a little bit underbudget, but the pension -- we've been working on our pension-related reforms that we had talked about yesterday.  And we had some savings in training for the nuclear operations and some IT savings with some of our contracts.

In general too, there is generally a lower head count.  We have had more -- a little bit more attrition than we expected.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would it be fair then to understand from your answer that when you set the -- for the evidence that was in the pre-filed evidence for the 2013 plan, it was based on the 2013 to 2015 business plan?  Even though things changed and you knew that they changed before the application was filed, you kept the same budgeted amount?

MS. LADAK:  Well, when we filed the application we looked at all of the changes that were taking place, and we updated -- like, we took a global look, and we made updates as appropriate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you -- but...

MS. LADAK:  We factored this into the analysis that we did, so we didn't go and update specific items, but we did look at the total picture of the ups and downs and we made adjustments.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we can turn -- I want to now talk about information technology.  And my understanding, that falls within the bucket of business and administrative support --


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- category?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding from the evidence -- and this is on page number 6 of our compendium -- that you're benchmarking your information technology costs using the Electric Utility Cost Group information?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we do some comparisons, try to do them annually.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that for the last year you have, which is 2011 data, with respect to information technology spending per year, you were in the second quartile for information technology spending per employee and third quartile for information technology per gigawatt-hours; is that correct?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if I look at the chart on that page there, we have Q1, Q2, Q3, and under Q2 is "median".  So that makes it seem to me at least that Q2 -- it's not actually divided by quartiles.

MS. LADAK:  I'm sorry, I have been listening to you, but I haven't located the document.  Which page was that on?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  This is page 6 of our compendium.

MS. LADAK:  Page 6 of your compendium?  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You see it is it broken up into Q1, Q2, Q3.

MS. LADAK:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Q2 is the median, so it makes it seem it is not actually in quartiles; it is actually broken down into thirds.

MS. LADAK:  No, it is broken out into quartiles, but I guess if we were to estimate what the median would be, it would fall into that range.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But the -- so the table just doesn't show Q4?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct, yes.  We do have it in our detailed information, I believe. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we turn to page 7, this is an excerpt from the KPMG report.

And it reviews your information technology benchmarking report.  And the one that is in the KPMG report is:  "Final OPG IT cost benchmarking analysis, 2008-2010." 

MS. LADAK:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you see that?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if you look at the third bullet point under "Methodology appropriateness," it is saying:  "Comparison of EUCG IT metrics."

So is the evidence -- the 2011 information which your evidence is based on, is that using the same methodology and metrics as the previous ones, the 2008 through 2010? 

MS. LADAK:  It is using those same metrics.  So we have two things.  One is this report, the 2010 report that we filed, and then in addition we do the EUCG comparisons every year. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So here -- so just talking about the -- I am just talking about the IT benchmarking report summary.  So it's looking at the EUCG IT metrics; correct? 

MS. LADAK:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then would the same criticisms that the KPMG report applies to the 2008 through 2010 analysis apply to the 2011 analysis? 

MS. LADAK:  I would have to actually check on that.  I'm not certain.  I believe it is the same but I would have to check. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, let's walk through a couple of specifics, and if we need an undertaking I will ask for an undertaking.

MS. LADAK:  Sure. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 8 of the compendium here, this looks at the appropriateness of the methodology. 

And the last line here, KPMG says:

"As an internally generated report, the approach and methodology were not clearly defined nor verified by EUCG, and therefore not appropriate." 

Would you agree with that criticism? 

MS. LADAK:  The report says that, but EUCG does not go and provide benchmarking results.  They produce data that different organizations that are members of EUCG, they will participate and do their own analysis. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you provide them with data.  They don't verify the data that you provide?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct.  That is the same as all the participants in those, that do that. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now they also, KPMG also makes a criticism that:

"The approach and methodology were not clearly defined."

Would you agree with that? 

MS. LADAK:  They do make that point, but again, we're following -– there's definitions for the EUCG bench database, and we followed the approach that they suggest to use. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go up a bit to "Constraints and limitations" on that page, the first bullet point from is:

"Common industry-standard comparisons seemed to be excluded from this analysis, such as spend by tower or capital operating cost distribution."

So I understand that information is not part of the EUCG data, so that is why -- I assume that is why you're not using it; correct?

MS. LADAK:  As I said, for EUCG we do these two items that we benchmark.  And then we did a more comprehensive study that was filed in the evidence as well. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But just on the EUCG, this is the --


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That's fine.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the standard analysis that you do every year? 

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You do it based on those two metrics only?  I mean --


MS. LADAK:  Sorry.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you have access to do it on many other metrics?

MS. LADAK:  Yeah, that would be more challenging to do but yes, we do -- I believe we have access to that. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question is:  Could you even do the common -- or at least the spend by tower or capital operational cost distribution?

MS. LADAK:  I would actually have to check with our IT group to see what type of data is available and whether we can do it or not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we could have an undertaking to do that.  Is that an undertaking? 

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that. 

MR. MILLAR:  J9.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.3:  TO INQUIRE WITH IT GROUP WHETHER DATA IS AVAILABLE TO CALCULATE SPEND BY TOWER OR CAPITAL OPERATIONAL COST DISTRIBUTION.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we turn to page 13 of this benchmarking study, at the top of the page KPMG makes this statement:

"Based on our review of the report, the following metric gaps were identified as an important area to consider in measuring performance at OPG.  The additional metrics are recommended to better understand the IT cost distribution and business alignment."

And it provides a number of various analyses. 

Is OPG considering doing any analysis based on these metrics?  And if the data is not available from EUCG to do so, is there discussion about potentially including the data to be able to do this? 

MS. LADAK:  Well, reading the types of items that they suggest, we do look at these types of things as part of our IT program.  Again, I don't know if the IT group has considered benchmarking these items specifically.

But these are items that we look at annually as part of our planning process, and we assess it compared to our actual results.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, KPMG is essentially saying you're not using this.  This is a 2012 report, so that is why I'm asking.

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  As part of the formal benchmarking, we're not doing it, but I'm saying we do it as part of our ongoing business.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Internally, but not to benchmark it against other -- are you looking at it:  Are you doing better this year than you were doing last year based on these?  Or are you using the external benchmarks from the EUCG data, using these metrics? 

MS. LADAK:  We're doing it internally.  And we do look at external benchmarks.  We're not doing a formal documentation of here's how we compare, but we're saying:  Okay.  We know where the industry is going.  And we set targets for ourselves on that basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why would you not do it, what you define as formally? 

MS. LADAK:  Well, as I said, I would have to ask our IT group that. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 172 of the Auditor General's report -- sorry, yes, 172.

And the Auditor General comments on your outsourcing of information technology services.  And it makes a finding, and this is on -- if we could take a look on sort of the second bar, second paragraph:

"OPG's management submitted its proposal to renegotiate and renew with the current vendor to its board on October 1st, 2009 and received approval on the same day.  However, only after it received this approval did OPG start looking for consultants to validate and endorse the proposal.  Two consultants were engaged on October 6th, 2009 and issued its final report within a week.  There is a good reason for public-sector organizations to use open competition rather than non-competitive approaches.  Through open competition, organizations can determine a fair market price for the goods and services they require when a variety of suppliers submit competitive bids.  This also helps demonstrate accountability and ensure value for money.  In addition, competition eliminates risks associated with overreliance on a single supplier and minimizes the perception of a conflict of interest.  By single-sourcing its IT services, OPG did not take full advantage of these benefits."

Do you agree that those are the benefits from a competitive procurement process? 

MS. LADAK:  I agree those are the benefits.  And I could provide you with some information we had our consultant take a look at.

So we do use competitive bidding and so on.  We retained Everest and KPMG prior to engaging in these consultations with New Horizons.

And Everest recommended we do what is called leveraged negotiation.  And there's benefits to that approach, in which you have your incumbent, you negotiate with your incumbent, and if those negotiations fail then you go and do, like, a competitive process.  And at that point the incumbent cannot participate in the process.

So there is a real advantage to that approach.  And Everest, actually, the company we had hired to assist us, had said if we did just the regular competitive process, we would probably only save about 5 to $7 million, but doing the leveraged negotiation would result in additional higher savings, which is what we achieved through this contract. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if I look at sort of the first paragraph that I read to you, it seems that you only actually did that analysis after you had -- the Board had made that approval?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That is not correct.  We actually did discuss this with the Auditor General.  They didn't change their report.  But we actually had engaged KPMG and Everest prior to doing all of this work, and so what they did at the very end of the process was give us a report almost for documentation purposes, but both our board and these two organizations were involved from the start of the process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the consultants' information, even if it wasn't in a final report, was that -- that was provided to the Board?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, it was.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can just turn the page to page 173.  This is with respect to the recommendations.  On the second bullet point, recommendation 3, it says:

"The Auditor General is recommending that you conduct an open, competitive process for outsourcing its information technology services before the current contract expires."

Then if we turn the page again, and this is with respect to OPG's response.

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just going to read from the middle of that.  OPG essentially says:

"We plan to assess all potential options before the current contract expires, including an open, competitive process, as consistent with the recommendations of the Auditor General."

So one of the potential options will be, as I read this, to include an open, competitive process, as consistent with the recommendations of the Auditor General, that you're not saying that you will do that.  Am I correct?  Is that a correct reading of that?

MS. LADAK:  Well, we're in the process right now of renewing the contract -- not renewing, excuse me, the contract is expiring, and we're working on it right now to decide what we want to do at the end of this contract, and we are going through a competitive process right now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You will do a competitive process.

MS. LADAK:  We are doing it right now, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And the comments of the Auditor General, do they apply to -- I mean, to generally how you do large contracts?  Contract -- contracting?  That when you're renewing an agreement, you will first determine if you can get a better deal negotiating with the supplier, and then later you will determine if you should do a competitive process?

MS. LADAK:  Well, in this example for the IT outsourcing we did that.  Because it is such a large contract, we wanted to seek advice from external consultants who are in the business of advising on IT outsourcing, and that is what they advised in that situation.

We do competitive bidding normally, but I guess we need to always look at the different options, but, yes, we do competitive bidding for the most part.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk about human resources costs as a corporate cost item, not compensation.  If I can take you to page 19 of the compendium.  My understanding is you do benchmark your human resources costs or what you now call people and culture; am I correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  One of the measures used is the human resources expense factor, which is the total human resources cost divided by the number of human resources employees?  My understanding is that you're between the third and the fourth quartile.  This is from the bottom of page 19 and on to page 20.

MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's what's presented here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then another metric you use is human resources FTE to employee ratio, and at least for the 2012 information that you have, you're in the bottom quartile.  This is on page 20.

MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 22 of the compendium, this is again from the KPMG report.  In the KPMG report, looking at your various benchmarking studies, it includes a human resources study, but it is not the electric utility HR metrics group.  It is a Scott Madden study.

Do you see that?  The top of the page, it says "study author, Scott Madden"?

MS. EARLE:  I do, but I believe it is specific to the metrics within the EU HR metrics group.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that was my next question, because it does say that you are using the EUCG, or Electric Utility Cost Group, data.

So my understanding, looking under "objective" on page 22, it says:

"The objective of the 2005 to 2008 report was to develop a custom assessment of OPG's HR department using benchmarks from EU HR MG.  The 2009 report is a follow-up study."

So my understanding is, it is taking the data from what you were saying and looking at this, was it taking the data from the EU HR MG information, and then it was providing you with an analysis of that?  Would that be sort of a fair characterize of what it was?

MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.  It is taking the data that we submit and that the other organizations submit and providing us with some analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then would the same criticisms that KPMG makes about the data, would that apply -- it's making it here with respect to 2005-2008 and then 2009 to 2010 period -- would that apply for the most recent information that you have included in your evidence that we were talking about just before?

MS. EARLE:  Likely at a high level.  The limitations of the data within the EU HR metrics group would continue to apply.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we look under -- still on page 22, under "2009-2010 follow-up report", it makes a number of comments with respect to the methodology.  And it makes a criticism -- I am just going to summarize.  It makes a criticism that the peer group is not reflective when looking at very large employers.  All of the comparators are American, and the employment at will and publicly-funded healthcare differences significantly impact both the number of required HR team members and employment costs.

And then it talks about, for North American utilities only three are Canadian, and both are much smaller than OPG.

Would you agree with those criticisms of the data?

MS. EARLE:  Yes, that is the participant group of the EU HR metrics group.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we -- looking at sort of the first criticism about the peer group not being reflective and that -- talking about the comparators with American companies who have employment at will and publicly-funded healthcare differences, is my understanding about the actual impact of those differences, is that it would understate -- it would understate OPG compared to the United States, in terms of the amount of employees -- human resources FTEs to employees?

MS. EARLE:  I think that probably what it's saying is that this is not necessarily an apples-to-apples comparison. The EU HR metrics group we have been participating in for several years, and similar to what Ms. Ladak was saying, this is information where we submit and we are then able to access the information provided by several other organizations.

It's one data point.  It's directional at best and provides us with some trending.  We don't necessarily shape the entire HR business based on the results of this, but again, it is a data point which helps to inform us on potential areas to look for efficiency gains and how to make the HR business better.

And I think, as was discussed particularly on panel 1, but with the business transformation exercise, we have been implementing several initiatives which ultimately will likely, you know, improve some of the results, but again, with the limitations that this is not necessarily an apples-to-apples comparator, in terms of the fact that some of the things that you've listed, that they're U.S. organizations, et cetera.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  I'm just trying to understand what the actual impact of that is, because if we look at your human resources to FTE employment ratios we talked about earlier, you're in the bottom quartile.

MS. EARLE:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding at least with respect to the healthcare criticism about American companies, in the U.S. health care it is primarily an employer responsibility where, in Canada, there is a government responsibility.  So it seemed to me you would need more HR employees in the U.S. to deal with that?

MS. EARLE:  Not necessarily.  I don't know that I can comment on that, but, again, the listing here, which you pointed out, the 2009 to 2010 follow-up, things also like the employment at will, we would require perhaps a larger labour relations component to our HR organization, having to deal with those types of issues, whereas the United States organizations would not necessarily need to have the same complement to do with that.

So I don't know that each one of these can specifically detail which direction they would go, but suffice to say that there are differences which would impact the HR FTE ratio that are legitimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, when we're talking about human resources FTEs for the purposes of this data, that is human resources FTEs that are employees of OPG, doesn't -- wouldn't include if there's any outsourcing of employees or anything like that?

MS. EARLE:  There is a specific definition of what is to be included in the HR FTE population that is used to calculate this ratio.  It's correct that it's specific to regular employees, and also does not necessarily incorporate outsourcing of functions, et cetera.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I think there was discussion with some of the other panels about how -- with respect to the issue of staffing and benchmarking comparison with US employers.  They're more likely to offshore outsource their HR activities than OPG, and a large reason for that, from my understanding, was the OPG shareholder directed with that respect.  There is a limitation?


MS. EARLE:  I would say that is probably fair.  There may be other reasons which impact that, but that would certainly be one of them.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with that shareholder directive, is that a -- a limitation on your ability to both outsource and offshore, or just offshore?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yeah, I think you're referring to specifically offshoring.


The outsourcing component, as I explained with Mr. Millar yesterday in some comparisons, there is somewhat restrictions, because -- unusual to Canada compared to the US -- we have HR staff who are represented in collective bargaining.


By way of a common example, payroll is a very, very common function which is outsourced, and offshored for that matter.


Our staff in OPG that perform payroll functions are, in fact, represented by the collective bargaining agreements with Power Workers.


So there is some limitation on our ability to outsource some core functions that you would otherwise see outsourced in other jurisdictions.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, OPG has done a bunch of -- with respect to human resources costs, it has benchmarked it using the EUCG data, which is other utilities.


Why isn't OPG doing or considering benchmarking its human resources activities to other companies in the Canadian market that are just not in the generating business, that have, you know, large organizations that have, you know, a human resources function, and benchmarking against those companies?


MS. EARLE:  So I think that right now, given that we are undergoing this significant business transformation process, right now we're working on executing and implementing those initiatives.


And we may very well, once these initiatives are implemented, look to benchmark against more relative comparator groups, although I suspect we will continue with the EU HR metrics group, as we have been doing for several years.  But we may look to other, perhaps more appropriate benchmarks, in terms of some of the things you have listed.


But right now our focus is on reducing the headcount or improving the overall function of the HR services we provide, and gaining efficiencies and being able to maintain those efficiencies with a reduction in headcount.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But wouldn't it seem to me that if you are about to undertake or you're undertaking business transformation, this is the time to actually do that benchmarking so you know where you should be?  And then, you know, you do the reductions to get to that point?


MS. EARLE:  So I believe, as is in evidence, KPMG actually provided some high-level data in terms of how HR is benchmarking against some of the best practices in other HR organizations, and has supported the initiatives that we're working on.  So we are going to continue with those initiatives, and then, you know, do a -- look to ensure that we've made the efficiency gains that we set out to make.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's benchmarking against best practices.  I understand that part of the structural changes KPMG report.  But just in terms of benchmarking against other Canadian -- large Canadian companies with respect to HR employees to total employees, or the -- it is HR expense factor metric that you were using, why not that sort of -- why would you not do that now, at the time of business transformation, to have your baseline?


MS. EARLE:  Again, right now our focus is on the business transformation initiative, and I don't believe that until that initiative is complete or near completion, that we will be looking at doing that type of benchmarking.


MS. LADAK:  If I may just add, we do have enough information in terms of knowing what our gaps are.  So we can do more detailed comparisons and assessments, but we know there is a gap and we're working on that gap.  We have some top-down targets that we're using as a company and focussing on those.


So to spend the time now doing additional benchmarking, I am not sure what the value would be when we know there is a gap, to fine-tune that gap.  I'm not sure it is that worthwhile.  I think the focus that we're doing is focussing on making these improvements and reductions in headcount.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will move on to another section, move on to compensation.  I want to just ask you a general questions about the OPG work force.


Now, for the purpose of payment amounts, OPG essentially splits its business into sort of regulated and unregulated business.


Am I correct, though, that for OPG's unions, they're each governed by a single collective agreement and that would cover both the regulated and unregulated business?  Same set of rules?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you can turn to page 29 of the compendium, this is the response to the chart you provided in JT3.3.


If we look at line 8, this is total regular and non-regular employees, and in 2010 the actual number was 10,458; do you see that?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is for its regulated operation only; am I correct?


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we just flip the page quickly to page 31, this is from your 2010 annual report.  This is the "Management discussion and analysis," and right at the beginning, it says:

"As of December 31st, 2010, OPG had approximately 11,800 full-time employees and approximately 1,000 contract, casual, construction and non-regular employees."


So from that, I get that you had 12,800 employees for your entire operation, regulated and non-regulated.


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That sounds about right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's about 81 percent -- and you can take this subject to check.  That's just under 82 percent of your employees are -- were in the regulated business or the now-regulated business.


MS. LADAK:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at 2013, if we go back to page 29 and we look at 2013 actuals, the total regulated number of employees is 9,563; do you see that?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then if we go to page 33 of the compendium, this is from the 2013 annual report.


MS. LADAK:  Yes, we have that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I see 10,270 full-time employees, and 800 seasonal and casual contract and non-regular type.


So that seems to me that you would have 11,070 total employees in the regulated and non-regulated business.  Does that sound about right?


MS. LADAK:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And subject to check, that's about 89 percent of your employees at the end of 2013 were in the regulated business?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, my understanding about business transformation generally is that --


MS. LADAK:  Sorry, can I make one point about that?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.


MS. LADAK:  As part of our application, we had -- previously we had nuclear and regulated hydroelectric, and we have added additional stations that were previously unregulated hydroelectric stations.  Those are also now regulated.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I know.  To be clear, I'm using the term "now regulated" to understand --


MS. LADAK:  I just wanted to make sure everybody understood that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, my understanding from business transformation generally is that on a company-wide basis, you know, the goal is to have 2,000 total reductions.  Does that sound about right?


MS. LADAK:  That's about right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And about 1,300 from the regulated business?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that is about 65 percent of the reductions coming from the regulated business?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we talk about sort of the total regulated employees versus unregulated employees, that is -- if we looked at the 2010 numbers that we were just talking about before, that is about 82 percent, and now we're talking about 89 percent.


So it seems to me that, on a proportionate basis, a much greater proportion of the reductions are coming from the unregulated side than the regulated side; is that a fair conclusion?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Because part of our unregulated operations are our coal business, and we're not running the coal stations any more.  So we're reducing staff in that area as well.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So a number of those reductions are based on the coal plants closing?  That's essentially --


MS. LADAK:  Total company.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- those are the causes for the total headcounts, is there's a number of stations you're just not producing any more power from them?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That's right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you have the ability to reduce from that?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Rubenstein, could I interject?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Please.


MS. DUFF:  Regarding the newly regulated assets, when were the employees considered regulated in 2013?  Perhaps you could define that for me, the date.


MS. LADAK:  We have actually just put them in the regulated operations in 2013 for the -- I believe it was for the entire year, just for comparison.  Like. we know it's not happening -- they're not becoming regulated until this July 1st, in 2014.


MS. DUFF:  I just don't remember seeing that in the evidence, that clarification that you had done that for 2013.  Okay.


MS. LADAK:  In our application we said we did present the information as if they were regulated.


MS. DUFF:  For all of 2013?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just take from what you're saying, so of the total 2,000 reductions, it is somewhat, you know, misleading that a lot of these are about increasing productivity and lowering sort of the total head count, if a number of those positions are being reduced simply because, well, you're not operating those facilities any more.


MS. LADAK:  Yeah, no, that is part of it.  I'm not saying -- that's not the majority.  That is just part of it, I'm saying.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  I want to talk about the costs of reductions generally, and if we can turn to page 157 of the Auditor General's report.  Look at the last paragraph on that page.


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  "Although OPG informed us that staff 


who leave through attrition do not receive packages, we noted that a staff reduction in recent years had still cost a significant amount.  There had been a fourfold increase in total severance and termination costs (from about 4 million in 2009 to 17 million in 2012).  The two key components of these costs are retirement bonuses equivalent to one month of base pay for unionized staff and three months of base pay for non-unionized staff, and severance pay, which employees negotiate with management along with the input of the legal department."


So do I understand from that that if an employee is leaving -- well, if it is an attrition situation, that is usually a retirement, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if an employee is retiring, he's still receiving severance pay?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  There are retirement bonuses that we have in recognition of the employees' service that kick in in retirement.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 37 of our compendium.  Sorry -- yes.  37 of our compendium.  Here we're looking at employees on the public-sector salary disclosure list for 2010, 2011, and 2012.  Just looking at the over 100,000 number, you see 7,786 individuals.  2011, we see that increase again to 7,849.  And then in 2012 we see 7,960 people on that list.


And then if we just flip over the page on page 38, that just has the number for 2013, and that is 7,958, so a reduction of two employees.


Could we generally agree that, as a percentage of the total employees, that this is anywhere from 70 percent to the high 70s -- or 75 percent, let's say, of your total employees?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that would be accurate, keeping in mind that the total employee population would include both regular and non-regular, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is a significant amount of your employees are making over $100,000 a year.


MS. EARLE:  Which we would expect, being a highly technical, highly skilled work force.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does OPG believe that, looking at these numbers, that the compensation it pays its employees are appropriate?


MS. EARLE:  Absolutely.  In the context of our environment, we do believe that our compensation is appropriate.  With respect to those numbers, again, the majority -- the majority of the employees who are on those lists are actually represented employees and are governed by the collective agreement, and we talked a lot about how those wage scales are negotiated.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is a different question.  I'm not asking -- do you think that the compensation is appropriate?  I am not asking if we can move --



MS. EARLE:  I do think the compensation -- I do think that the compensation is appropriate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even after looking at the -- and I won't go through it in detail.  Mr. Millar did that yesterday on the Aon Hewitt study in detail, which showed that, you know, in many places against many comparisons you're above the 50th percentile in benchmark.  You still think that's a -- OPG still think that is appropriate?


MS. EARLE:  Within the context and the reality that OPG operates, I do believe that those are appropriate compensation numbers.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But when you talk about the context and the reality you're talking about within a unionized environment?


MS. EARLE:  All of the contexts and realities that OPG operates, being a highly technical organization, highly skilled work force, operating in a unionized environment, all of those things combined.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 34 of the compendium.  This is AMPCO Interrogatory No. 63.  If we look at Part A, it is referencing page 154 of the Auditor General's report.  I don't think you need to turn that up, necessarily, but you can if you want.


The Auditor General report indicates that:

"OPG's staffing levels have gone down by 8.5 percent, from about 12,100 in 2005 to 11,100 in 2012, but the size of its executive and senior management group, directors, vice-presidents, above, have increased by 58 percent from 152 in 2005 to 238 in 2012.  Please discuss OPG in addressing the size of its executive senior management group in this application."


And OPG responds in this interrogatory:

"OPG has taken steps to address this.  Any new replacement position at the director level or higher must be approved by the president and CEO.  Further, when any director, vice-president or above is vacated, OPG evaluates the opportunity not to fill that position."


Do you see that?


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So am I to understand that if a person at the level that we're discussing leaves his position for whatever reason, then OPG makes a determination if it needs to fill that position or not?


MS. EARLE:  And that would be how OPG is currently working with any positions that are vacated.  We take a hard look at whether or not the work program is still in place and at what level of work we need to replace that position.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to management positions at least, why is OPG waiting to determine if the position is needed until it is vacated?  It would seem to me that if you're in a position to know if the position is needed once someone has vacated, you would be similarly in a position to know if you need the position when someone is in it.


MS. EARLE:  So I think that may just have to do with the wording of this response.  We absolutely look at the justification for creating any of these new positions before the position is created.


So the positions that are in place would have been reviewed on the basis of what work needs to get done, what is the appropriate level for the position that needs to fulfil the work, and this is just reiterating the fact that as those positions are vacated, particularly at the levels that were highlighted in the AG report, we are looking at whether or not they -- I think that is just a restatement of the practice that we already have with regard to any position that is vacated at OPG.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But my question is, when we're talking about management positions -- because I think there has been a criticism that, you know, OPG is a top-heavy organization, and one of the reasons the business transformation is to try to eliminate that or reduce it.  My question is:  Why are you not -- and maybe you are, but it is not clear at least from your answer and from the information -- why are you waiting until someone is vacating the position to determine if you need that position at all?  Why are you -- you're not making that determination when someone is in it, if that position is needed at all?


MS. LADAK:  Can we just confer for a minute?  

[Witness panel confers]

MS. EARLE:  Sorry, can you repeat your question? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am trying to understand here -- we know that if someone leaves a position, you make the determination if you still need that position, and if not, then you don't clearly put someone in and you don't replace the person. 


But are you making that determination -- it seems to me from the evidence that you're not -- when someone is in that position?  Regardless if you know they're retiring or not, make the determination:  Do we actually need a person in each one of these directors, 6vice presidents or above positions? 


MS. EARLE:  So part of that, we have a business plan that -- that needs to be executed, and so we look at how long that work needs to continue to be done.


I think that you're getting to while the person is in the role, would we look at perhaps severing the employee; is that...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second question is what you would do with the individual in that position.  I am just trying to understand, you know, do you need a director of X when someone is in that role?


MS. EARLE:  The positions that we have in the organization are positions that are deemed to be required, based on the work that we have to execute. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, if I might for a second -- and I think this question was asked of -- the Board yesterday, there are a number of positions which we have deemed to be interim roles.  We talked about that with respect to business transformation.


We know some of those positions will have -- they will be time-limited.  And if that work is complete, we would make the determination to not continue with that position.  In cases, we know that in advance about which roles are going to disappear from the organization.


I have some experience in that with my own organization, some of the changes that I am making.  I know there are roles there that once the work is completed, I will not continue with that role going forward. 


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.


But can we talk about this directionally?  Directionally, there's less people to manage, and yet there's more managers.


So can you help the Panel out with that?  I mean, other than Darlington refurbishment -- which I guess we're waiting for some information on how many managers are taking that on as, I guess, a new project, in business transformation a new project -- it seems to me we've got 86 new managers, when we've got -- when you have less people to manage. 


So what level of review is being done as to whether or not those positions don't need to be there? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sure.  So, I mean, there is a very significant amount of change that is going on within the organization, in very discrete activities ranging from large to small, that require management to drive that change.  It's not going to be driven by the employees, employees up.


So in many cases we have people who are exclusively working on some of these changes and managing those changes across the organization.  Some of them are very structural changes.  Some of them are very fundamental changes.


So by way of an example, we had a project with respect to the outsourcing of disability management.  That was not -- that was a very significant undertaking, where we had somebody dedicated that was involved with doing that work. 


MS. EARLE:  I might also add that there is sort of an increase span of control.  So where we are looking for managers to manage a larger number of staff, where we may have had lower-level unionized employees doing supervisory roles, where we have amalgamated organizations requiring a manager to oversee those operations.  Which would increase the level of management. 


MS. LONG:  Well, it will be helpful to see those numbers when you have the numbers from business transformation and Darlington to take a look at.  And we may have some further questions once we see those numbers.


Mr. Rubenstein, sorry.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem at all.  But that discussion you just had and the questions we were just having, I wanted to follow up on something that was discussed with -- yesterday with Mr. Millar.


Yesterday there was a discussion about the number of executives you would have in the test year.  He brought you to, if you recall this, he brought you to a technical conference transcript where he asked Mr. Mauti about this issue.  And Mr. Mauti essentially said he didn't know how many executives that they would have. 


And, Ms. Earle, you agreed and you said for business planning purposes, you didn't know to that level.


Do you remember that discussion yesterday, just generally?


MS. EARLE:  I do remember that discussion.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the question I had after hearing that is:  Why do you not plan to that level?  Why would you not know that, well, in 2014 we're going to have these many directors, these many vice presidents, and 2015 we're going to, you know, have these many directors, these many vice presidents? 


MS. LADAK:  From a headcount perspective -- and we do plan at that level.  We know with the organization, in terms of costing out our labour and coming up with our labour budget, we use standard labour rates, where we take a look and say:  Okay, the average person across the company in that type of a role makes X amount of dollars.  And we use that rate.


So we don't come up with a rate for every single level.  We look at -- we look at consolidating certain rates.  So that is what we mean when we say we don't plan at that level. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let's break this down to two things.  So for the purposes of setting sort of the compensation envelope or the numbers that I assume you are responsible for, you don't do that.


But just the –- or at least -- maybe you can help me.  For business transformation or for doing all of the changes with respect to the Auditor General board and correcting for the top-heavy nature of it, you don't know how many overall directors or overall vice presidents you would expect to have in 2014 and in 2015? 


MS. LADAK:  No, we do know that.  We do know.  We don't know it off the top of our heads; that is why we're getting the information.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  It was not clear to me that that was part of an undertaking that was given yesterday.


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That was the undertaking we talked about today. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right. 


MS. HARE:  Will you be disadvantaged in not having an opportunity to ask, once you see those numbers?  When do we expect that to be filed? 


MR. SMITH:  I just asked Mr. Anderson if we would check at the break.  I don't want people to be -- obviously they shouldn't be disadvantaged by this, if this is a focus of people's cross-examination.


So I wanted to get 8.1 to people today so that they would have it, and I sense the same desire with respect to these undertakings.  So I will certainly check at the break and report back. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Obviously, I guess it depends what they say. 


Now, I just want to talk about -- with respect to compensation for management positions generally.  My understanding is there is a wage freeze in effect? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that wage freeze is for base salaries?  Or for all salaries?  Or sort of the total cash compensation as defined by the -- in the Aon Hewitt study? 


MS. EARLE:  It is a base salary wage freeze. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And when OPG is setting its compensation budget, is it looking on a per -- if we look sort of on a per full-time equivalent basis -- actually, it is probably best if you have yesterday's compendium from Board Staff, I think they -- I am not sure if you have that with you. 


If you could just go to page 61.  If we're looking at compensation per full-time employee for management, we see that number going up every year.  Do you see that? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Or at least between 2012 and 2015 we're seeing that number going up? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  And this is an all-in number.  I don't think -- it's not just the base wages.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I just want to categorize it.  So the base wages are frozen?


MS. LADAK:  Mm-hmm.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The incentives are not frozen.  And then there is also sort of the current service costs.  Those are sort of the three buckets that make up this chart?


MS. LADAK:  Yeah.  And the compensation -- the pension and OPEB costs are what's driving these changes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is the total incentives paid per employee, has that gone up or gone down?  How are you internally budgeting on that basis? 


MS. LADAK:  We typically budget to be at target, or so. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so between 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, when we're just talking about the incentive component per employee, are you looking at it when you're creating the full envelope of possible incentive payments that you can be provided?  Is that staying the same per employee, or is it not?


MS. EARLE:  I believe that when the evidence was submitted it was based on 2012 data, and I believe it remained constant.  The budget envelope was based on the number of employees reaching their target incentive and OPG reaching its target on its corporate scorecard.


That is the actual envelope that's budgeted.  However, the one caveat to that is that under Bill 55 it was capped on the envelope that was paid out in 2011.  So we've just maintained that budget.  However, in any given year, it is based on individual and employee performance, as well as the corporate performance.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're not changing -- so to keep the envelope constant on a per employee basis, you're not changing the targets for those employees?  You're not raising them?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not sure I fully understand the question, but --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'll tell you what I'm trying to understand here.  I'm just trying to understand -- we know that the base wages are frozen.  I am just trying to understand how the incentives are really just making up the difference here.  I am trying to understand that.  I am just trying to understand then how you budget the amount for the incentives.


MS. LADAK:  We budget based on previous experience, and we budget based on head count and an average payout.  Yes, we could get finer with the budgeting to do what you're suggesting.  In our total labour costs, that is not a large component relative to all the other items.

MS. HARE:  If we can go back, Ms. Earle.  I don't understand the answer that you gave.  You talked about the compensation being capped at the level paid out in 2011.  So you've maintained that budget.  But then you added,

 "however, in any given year it's based on individual and employee performance, as well as the corporate performance." 

So does that mean that any individual could actually receive more than they did in 2011?  What you're saying is the total envelope was the same?

MS. EARLE:  According to the bill, it's the total envelope of payout for performance incentives.  So that remains the same.  Yes, in any given year an individual may make more or less than they did in the previous year.  But the total -- the total performance incentive payout would not exceed what was paid in 2011.


MS. HARE:  But because it is in an envelope in '11 and you may have less employees, does that actually mean that there is more money to be given out per employee?


MS. EARLE:  No, because the actual payout is still based on OPG's actual head count and individual employee salaries meeting their targets, and then the corporate scorecard scores and results.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MS. EARLE:  Just because we have that envelope doesn't mean that we will pay to the envelope, I think is the root of your question.


MS. HARE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 163 of the Auditor General's report.  Sorry, I apologize, 159 of the Auditor General's report.  I want to just ask you a question.  Right under "staffing levels for executives and senior management", it says:

"In the rate application it submitted to the OEB in 2007, OPG indicated that it had made changes since 2004 to signal a return to a more public sector employment situation.  One of those changes was reducing the number of executives at OPG.  However, we noted that this has not been the case in recent years."


The question I want to ask you is, with respect to the -- that OPG had indicated that they had made changes to signal a return to a more public sector employment situation -- first, what does OPG understand, I guess, that they had meant, the Auditor General had meant?


MS. EARLE:  So I believe -- and I don't have the exact reference here, but this was referencing the change in model from privatization when that was being considered at that point and OPG was taking a different business model approach.  This line is specific to saying, now that we're not going private, we are going to return to a more public sector employment situation.  I'm not sure exactly what was meant further to that.  But that was sort of the context of that comment.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what were you doing before 2007 when you were -- or when you were considering privatization with respect -- what were you doing with respect to the employment situation that you are now -- you're now transitioning or you were transitioning away from?


MS. EARLE:  I can't necessarily speak to the specific changes, but the business model would have been much different had OPG gone private versus maintaining a public model.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, I understand a -- there would be a difference between a private OPG and a public OPG.  But this is referencing the employment situation.  That is what I am just trying to understand.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I guess if I could -- I could give you an example for the unionized staff.  There were performance bonuses that were provided to unionized staff which is based on the company's performance prior to 2000 and -- sorry, just let me get the dates clear in my head here.  Prior to 2012 and 2013, as the case may be.


And the original theory behind those additional bonuses was it would increase additional performance incentives and make us more competitive.


With this return to more of a public sector operation, we viewed that those bonuses were no longer necessary and necessary in terms of reducing our compensation costs to reduce them for unionized staff.


So I think just by way of an example that is something I could provide to you.


MS. HARE:  I'm not sure that you answered the question, though, because Mr. Rubenstein was asking and taking you to the paragraph that talks about executive level, which does not include the unionized staff.


So Mr. Rubenstein, continue, but I don't think you have responded to these two paragraphs that talk about the change in 2007 and the fact that it hasn't happened.  It has nothing to do with unionized staff.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I was just trying to give a -- I am not personally familiar with what those executive changes would have been.  I was just trying to give an example to be helpful of an employment-related consideration, as Mr. Rubenstein had put it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let me just ask you this broadly then.  Does OPG think that its employment situation is similar to the public sector?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think we are faced with many of the same considerations and constraints as the public sector, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is -- I mean -- but if we take you then to page 16 -- sorry.  Yes, if we take you then to page 166.  This was a -- and I don't want to get into any detail here.  This was a -- you had this conversation with Mr. Millar yesterday.  It showed compensation between OPS -- Ontario Public Service employees and OPG employees.  And I know there was a discussion about some of them are unionized and some of them are not.


But even on the management side, it is actually some of the -- there's some very significant gaps between the public service -- and this is the maximum total earnings for the Ontario Public Service in each of one of those positions -- and the average total earnings for an OPG in that position.


So how can you say that you're similar to the public service when we see these disparities in pay?


MS. EARLE:  I think we spoke yesterday about the fact that several of these positions are unionized, and we talked at length about OPG's wage schedules being part of a collective bargaining process.


And with respect to the management positions, this is comparing to OPS.  We have a benchmarking study, which is in evidence, which suggests that these positions are at market. 


So not knowing necessarily where OPS is with respect to the market, this is, again, a data point specific to a select number of positions that the Auditor General took a look at. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I won't take you to the Aon Hewitt study, but I think with respect to some of those comparisons, it doesn't show that you are actually at the 50th percentile, but --


MS. EARLE:  The Power Workers Union, which --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, but I'm talking about the management positions. 


MS. EARLE:  Generally, the report suggests that it is within market. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can just -- my last area with respect to management, I just want to go back to the incentive.  And I want to talk about the annual incentive plan, which was discussed in the Auditor General's report.


Now, if I could take you to page 167, just at the last paragraph on that page:

"Figure 10 shows that the distribution of high AIP scores, 3 or 4, has been skewed around towards executive and senior management staff, directors, vice presidents and above.  On average, 67 percent of executives and senior management staff receive high AIP scores from 2010 to 2012.  Only 24 percent of the staff in lower bands received higher scores during the same period.  The majority of them achieved a score of 2.  Some executives had incomplete or no performance evaluation documentation to support their high AIP scores.  OPG explained that AIP scores are reviewed and validated in calibration meetings, but acknowledged that many performance evaluations were verbal and not documented in writing."


So let me first ask you with respect to -- and the figure 10 sort of shows this quite well.  You see a significant amount, over 60 percent of your executive and senior management positions, are at scores 3 and 4. 


Yet when we look at sort of the below executive senior management position, we see 60 percent are sort of at the score 2, the median AIP number. 


Why is this the case? 


MS. EARLE:  So I think you -- these are all individuals, based on individual performance in any given year.  So you would have to look at the individual data that supports that.  I believe that OPG's response indicates that going forward there will be even more rigour around that calibration process, and a review at the macro level in terms of the relative distribution of scores across OPG. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So putting aside sort of the -- there's no documentation on the calibration -- in the calibration meeting issue, just -- it seems to me --


MS. LADAK:  For some of them.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- it would be looking at the -- that the targets that you're setting for your management or your executive and senior management positions are too low; is that sort of a fair conclusion, that --


MS. EARLE:  I don't think so.  I don't think that this speaks to what the actual targets were. 


These are, again, senior-level leader positions.  We would expect them to, again, be working hard and driving results.  I would suggest that is what has been done.


But again, without having the specific detail of any one individual, I can't speak to the target specifically.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, I mean, once someone gets to the executive or senior management position, they're getting a better base salary.  I mean, the expectations would be that they would be working -- you know, that they're a stronger employee per se than some of the lower manager positions.  That is how they got to that level.


So the base salary, those are the expectations. 


The annual incentive pay is then looking at -- on top of that, right?  And it would seem to me you're setting those targets too low.


And I understand you can't, you know -- we're not going to walk through every employee's -- you know, how each employee got their annual incentive pay.  So we need to sort of have a discussion on sort of the macro level here. 


MS. EARLE:  And I just don't think that I can agree with you, from this data, that the resulting conclusion is that our executive targets are set too low.  I just -- I don't believe that I can agree with that statement overall. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then the second part of the Auditor General's comments was about the incomplete or no performance evaluation documentation.  It seems to me there was a similar discussion yesterday with Mr. Millar about, you know, for the unionized members, how there was a lack of documentation with respect to their performance evaluations as well. 


So what are you doing with respect to the management employees, with respect to the annual incentive pay to create -- you know, to have more accountability here? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm just looking at -- to see if it's here.  But there, we did respond that it is mandated that every management group employee uses the tool, the performance management tool that we have in place, to ensure that documentation is there.


Again, this reflects that some executives had incomplete or missing.  The vast majority of our management group employees do, indeed, have documentation with respect to their performance plan. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is a mandated thing? 


MS. EARLE:  And that is mandated.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just sort of on a -- practically, how this works, you being in the HR department, if you don't actually see that form, do you not, then, provide the annual incentive pay?  Like, how does it work?  Or how do did it work?  Well, let me ask:  How did it work?


Were you given someone -- someone had to tell someone in payroll that they met their target, so you need to provide them with this payment?  You were not provided with the actual performance evaluation? 


MS. EARLE:  No.  So HR does not maintain individual copies of every individual management group performance plan.


There is an online tool, and within each business unit it is the responsibility of managers to work with their team, ensure that that performance plan is in the system, to review that plan, make comments on that plan.  It's a two-way dialogue, in terms of performance and expectations.


And throughout the year, there is at least, you know, one or two performance review meetings, where a manager and an employee will discuss their performance.  And by the end of the year, the score is submitted by the manager in the system.


Ultimately the file that gets to HR is a file indicating the score for an individual, and calculations are done on that basis, on the expectation -- which is set by the senior leadership team -- that all managers have performance reviews in the system for their employees.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And someone is now ensuring that the full process is being undertaken to get there? 


MS. EARLE:  And now we are going into the system and monitoring and doing a compliance check, yes. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.


That is sort of a natural break before I get to another section, if the Board would like to take its morning break.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will take a break, then, until 11:20.  Thank you. 


--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 11:27 a.m.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I believe over the break we were able to get some of the information that we had been looking for, and maybe I would just ask Mr. Fitzsimmons to provide that information.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  With respect to the number of director and above positions, I have some numbers from the period 2012 to the beginning of the first quarter in 2014.


And the expected number for the reduction of positions director and above will be from 218, 2012 year end, to 201, first quarter 2014.


There are -- and that excludes the refurbishment numbers.  There are 13 director and above positions with respect to the refurbishment organization.


And I had also asked for just an estimate of how many management positions, leadership positions, were involved with business transformation.  So these would be at various levels, not limited to the director and above, but there is an estimate that is approximately 15 positions that are working dedicated to the business transformation.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, was my request for a -- may I just follow up on something just to make sure we're clear?


MS. HARE:  Yes, please.


MR. MILLAR:  The DRP, Darlington refurbishment number, of 13, what year is that for?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I believe that is -- that's based on -- I think that is based on our '13.  I grabbed these numbers very quickly, unfortunately, so I have to confirm that.  I think there will be some expectation of numbers increasing in refurbishment as they move into the execution of the project itself.


MR. MILLAR:  For business transformation, your number of 15 total management, what year is that for?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That will be '13 and '14.  Those are the staff that are involved currently, and they will be reduced at periods of time from likely now until '15 and perhaps into some periods in '16.


MR. MILLAR:  And is this -- does this constitute the full response?  Or is this to give us the numbers now, and there will be a written response as well?


MR. SMITH:  Well, we can provide it in writing if that would be of assistance.  We thought, given the request, we should do our best to get the information as quickly as possible, but we can certainly provide it.  I know administratively that is sometimes a little bit easier for people to manage.


MR. MILLAR:  We're in the panel's hands.  Generally we like to have it in written form as a formal undertaking response, but if that's --


MS. HARE:  We would like to have it in written form.  And the other thing is we're going to look at it and see whether or not it actually responds to what we were actually trying to get at.


MR. SMITH:  That's quite all right.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  So I think we're ready for you, Mr. Rubenstein, to resume.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just following up on that, the undertaking responses -- or that response that you just provided orally, the 13 directors for the Darlington refurb, I think you said that was 2013 numbers?  Did I catch that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I believe that was the case, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering, just so we have a sort of a comparison, because you provided the total number, I think year end 2012, for the total numbers, it's the 218 numbers --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That was for -- excluding refurbishment.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I was just wondering when you provide the written response -- so there is sort of an apples-to-apples comparison here, that you provide sort of the Darlington refurb directors that are being excluded from that 218, how many were there in 2012 as well?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Okay.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If that is possible.  So...


I just want to briefly talk about the Aon Hewitt study --


MS. LADAK:  Can I make a clarification?  You had asked me a question before the break about the hydroelectric, the newly regulated number.  They're actually in for 2010 to '15, the entire period.  I'm sorry, I had said 2013.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MS. LADAK:  Okay.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to ask briefly about the Aon Hewitt study, and I don't want to go into too much detail, because it was discussed yesterday with Mr. Millar.


If I could take you to page 63 of our compendium.  As I understand this table, it is a summary for all -- for the PWU, Society, and management for the -- against the benchmark for the general industry.  Do you see that?


MS. EARLE:  I am just going there.  Yes, I do have that.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's a total cash -- target total cash, so that is base pay and incentive pay, but doesn't include pensions or other employment benefits, correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if my understanding about the general industry benchmarking, it's being benchmarked against a Mercer and a Aon Hewitt database that they maintain; is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we can see from the chart at the bottom, it's the weighted average that against the 50th percentile for all three of the representation groups, PWU, Society, and management, OPG is above the 50th percentile by, you know, the high end, 29.4 percent for the PWU, and at the low end I see, you know, 20.9 percent for management.


Then we also have at the P75 level, at the low end we see for management the 8.4 percent, and at the high end we're seeing 15.7 percent for the PWU.  Correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  You mentioned 20 percent in relation to, I thought you said management, and I didn't see where -- can you just tell me where you were looking?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are we talking about for the P50?  20.9 percent I'm reading.


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I may have just misheard you.  I thought you said a reference to 20 percent, and I wasn't -- I apologize if I misunderstood you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I might have.  I apologize if that is the case.  But -- and I just want to understand the comparison to the -- and the databases that were used.


Do those databases include public sector companies?  Or public service and public --


MS. EARLE:  Yes, they would include some public sector organizations.  It's a long list of organizations, I think, over 200 for at least one of them, and, yes, it could include and I believe does include some public service.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now -- and I am going to make a distinction between what I would call sort of core public service -- this is the -- which would be the -- similar to the Ontario Public Service, and I would sort of public -- a broader public sector, which could include OPG or Hydro One or, you know, agencies or Crown corporations, so on.  Does it include core public service, similarly to the Ontario Public Service?


MS. EARLE:  I don't specifically have the list.  That's not OPG's list.  However, my understanding is that, yes, it would and could include broader public sector organizations, amongst many others, retail, manufacturing, et cetera.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But core public sector?  So the Ontario Public Service I would call core public sector.  Public service --


MS. EARLE:  And I don't know every one of the organizations on the list.


MS. HARE:  But do you have the list, Ms. Earle?


MS. EARLE:  I do not have the list, no.


MS. HARE:  Why wouldn't you have the list?


MS. EARLE:  It's maintained -- it is actually proprietary information to Aon Hewitt and/or Mercer, depending on which it is.  So they used their own databases to do this comparison.


MS. HARE:  When you commission a report wouldn't you want to know who is in the group?  Wouldn't you ask to see that?


MS. EARLE:  We would have accepted that them having over 200 organizations in that list, in the general industry, and having used this for a variety of compensation surveys, that it provided a vast number of general industry organizations which did cover -- they did inform us that it did cover broader public sector, as well as, again, some retail, manufacturing, a variety of organizations.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to clarify, I understand that they wouldn't have provided you with -- when you have an OPG incumbent position, you're comparing it to some companies that you're comparing to, which of those matched.  But they didn't provide you with the list of:  Here are the people who input data into our various databases?


MS. EARLE:  It was not part of this survey.  It was not provided to us as part of this survey.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we can just turn to page 166 of the Auditor General's report -- you might not even need to turn it up.  But again, this is sort of the chart that we have been looking at.  This was a comparison of total earnings and the maximum total Ontario public service earnings.


So we can't say, then, or I guess you don't know, if the group 3 industry comparisons would include any of these positions that are part of the Ontario public service?  We wouldn't know that?


MS. EARLE:  No.  Unfortunately, I would not know.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we turn to page 170 of the Auditor General's report, I'm reading the second bullet point at the top of the second bar here.  This is the Auditor General's recommendations.  It says:

"Review salary level and employee benefits including pensions to ensure that they are reasonable in comparison to similar and broader public sector organizations, and that they're paid out in accordance with the policy, adequately justified and clearly documented."


So putting aside the "clearly documented" and "adequately justified" part, just the comparison with other broader public sector organizations, so some of those would be included in the industry comparison that Aon Hewitt has provided?


We don't know who, but you have said that it does include some public sector -- broader public sector organizations?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you -- was anyone -- did anyone ask the government if you could be provided with Ontario public service data or other broader public sector data?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that that request has been made, no.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I mean, did it?


MS. EARLE:  No.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Were -– wasn't --


MS. EARLE:  To the best of my knowledge, no.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It didn't seem reasonable that you would ask, if you want to sort of create a better representation and you would have probably -- there's a pool of data that you, because of your shareholder being the province, would have had access to.  You wouldn't -- it wouldn't be wise to ask if they would be able to provide that?


MS. EARLE:  In the context of this survey, there was specific terms of reference, and it was in response to a directive from the Ontario Energy Board.  And we captured what we understood to be the request and executed under those terms of reference, to get what we believe is the best comparison data for the compensation survey.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you agreed to the terms of reference.  They're your terms of reference.  They're OPG's terms of reference.  They were not imposed by anybody.


MS. EARLE:  They were agreed, and also underwent stakeholder consultation as well.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk about sort of the OPG's collective agreement with the Power Workers Union.


My understanding, it covers from April 1st, 2012 to March 31st, 2015; is that correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding from the evidence is that the province, as the sole shareholder of OPG, directed OPG to achieve a net zero result with OPG.  And that by -- that would mean any wage increases would need to be offset by other compensation decreases?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That -- compensation increases needed to be offset, not necessarily with other compensation decreases.  That was our understanding of net zero.  That was the expectation of the government of OPG and -- amongst other government agencies.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, we've provided in the compendium at page 66 to 74 –- and I don't think you need to turn this up -- this is various letters from the government to Ontario Power Generation which speak to this, and you included this in response to Board Staff Interrogatory 102.


And my reading of the letter -- I will ask you to confirm -- is that the net zero mandate, while it was provided specifically to OPG in those letters, it was not a -- it was not specific to OPG.  That was provided to the broader public service in their negotiations with various unions?  They had the same rules as you did?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.  The government at that time had presumably following the Supreme Court of Canada case in British Columbia, where legislation imposing wage restraints were struck down because of the absence of consultation.


After some consultation with union partners by the government in 2010, no legislation was imposed on union bargaining agents, per se.  But the expectation on agencies within and throughout the broader public sector was to achieve collective agreements that met the net zero expectation.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question was just a little more simplistic.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I was --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Everybody was under the same rules?  It was not -- that was not sort of just the rules for OPG?  Another department would have another set of rules.  You know, the Ministry of Energy or -- you know, they would have another set of rules?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  My understanding is everybody was under the same expectation.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for OPG, these were the shareholder instructions; correct?  That is the -- it's a letter, but it is a letter from the province as its shareholder to OPG?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is not a regulation?  You know, it has no legal effect beyond its instructions to OPG as the sole shareholder?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So while the province may have said:  OPG, you have to have a net zero mandate, it is open to this Board to say that you should have negotiated something else?  Not net zero; less than that?  I am just -- put aside if that would happen or not, if that's even relevant, but it would be open for this Board; am I correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I'm not sure the Board can direct us to achieve an outcome that is not possible within the collective bargaining regime.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question is more simplistic.  The Board is not bound by the province's directive to OPG to meet net zero?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, Dr. Chaykowski, you had a discussion yesterday with Ms. Hare and you were saying that you found it -- I don't know that you need to pull up the transcript, but, you know, you found ironic that in an industry where people were well educated and well trained, that they're productive and hardworking, that they wanted to be -- you know, their wages lower.  Do you remember that discussion that you -- just generally, do you remember that discussion?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes, I do.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question actually is for Ms. Earle.  My understanding of the Aon Hewitt study is it is comparing OPG positions with similar positions at other companies; correct?  Or other organizations?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.  That's correct.  It is a job-matching survey.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it would be reasonable for me to assume, then, that those positions, you know, an OPG incumbent versus a position it is being compared to, that other position would have similar employment -- you know, similar qualifications, similar training?


MS. EARLE:  That would be -- yes, that would be correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, there was a discussion yesterday with Mr. Millar, and this was with respect to the Auditor General's report, that it found a sample of performance evaluations in 2010 and 2011 that only two of the 30 were completed.  Do you remember that discussion generally that was being had, the panel had?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the follow-up question I had from yesterday's discussion with respect to that, is it fair to assume that it is likely that PWU members or Society members that its speaking to would have progressed through the pay grades even in cases that they maybe shouldn't have had, since there was no -- in many cases, at least, the Auditor General found there was no performance evaluations that were completed, that it saw.

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I don't know I would draw a negative inference from that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, whose responsibility is it to ensure that the formal evaluations are conducted?  That's not this Board's job; this is clearly, obviously, OPG's job?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  The managers of the employees.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now -- and if there is no formal evaluations for a number of -- or a sample that the Auditor General shows -- two of 30, I believe the number was, were not completed -- and that in many cases -- you know, if two of 30 were not completed and that people were progressing through the pay grades, how can this Board ensure or how can there be any verification that these employees should have moved up through the pay grade system?


MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt for a second?  And correct me if I'm wrong.  I thought it was only two of 30 were completed?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  I --


MS. HARE:  Yeah, you said two -- the two weren't completed.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I apologize.  Two of 30 weren't -- were --


MS. HARE:  So 28 out of 30 weren't completed.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, 28 out of 30 were not completed.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the question I am trying to understand is how is this -- you know, how is this Board -- how can they ensure that the people who progress through the pay bands, that they actually should have progressed through those pay bands?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  As I explained yesterday, I mean, part of our supervisory training is to ensure that employees are given real-time feedback, in terms of their performance, and my expectation would be that if there are performance concerns, that those things are raised in due course.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I take you to page 169 of the Auditor General's report.  Mr. Millar took you to page 168 yesterday, and there was a discussion you had with him about how -- the Auditor General survey that it seemed to have conducted with various members of OPG, and that many of them felt that the collective agreement, the grievance process, the arbitration process, creates a nothing-can-be-done attitude.


But what he didn't take you to was to page 169.  If I could take you to the first paragraph on that page:

"A majority of respondents to our survey also indicated that they felt unionized staff performing managerial or supervisory functions had a negative impact on accountability and performance management.  They cited conflicts of interest and reluctance among unionized managers or supervisors to carry out the performance reviews or deal with performance problems of their unionized subordinates."


So this seems -- I read this as, when it comes to the unionized managerial positions -- I believe they're primarily Society positions -- many people felt that there was accountability problem and that because -- you know, that there was accountability and there was a conflict of interest among them when they're doing performance evaluations with their subordinates.


So how can this Board ensure that the -- because we know that individuals move through those pay bands, that they should have, because there is a revenue requirement aspect of that.  There is an increase in compensation.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And I can only respond that while there are certainly, as I explained yesterday, that performance management isn't without its limitations, in a collective bargaining arrangement, it is our expectation that, given the training that we give to supervisors, in terms of leadership and performance counselling, that supervisors exercise that as part of their ongoing duties.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does OPG itself or does management at OPG feel that everyone who is going through the performance -- sorry, moving -- or PWU members progressing through pay grades deserve to progress through those pay grades?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I would say that some of our managers and perhaps some of the influence here may be confused with problems in the workplace that they may have with employees on things like absenteeism, confuse that with the actual performance of their work.


And it is often the case where we're dealing with complicated issues and trying to manage employees and there is employee discipline involved, that managers express some concern and frustration over the grievance arbitration process in trying to exercise those duties and put in place the corrective actions to try and remediate things like employee attendance.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Putting aside employee attendance, I am talking about, here we have a situation, we have only two of 30 of the performance evaluations were completed.  Here we have the Auditor General saying, based on the, you know, its survey that it did with members that they cited a conflict of interest and reluctance among unionized managers, supervisors to carry out performance reviews.


Is OPG satisfied that the PWU members have progressed through the pay grades all of them should have?  Can OPG management --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I am satisfied that we give managers the tools necessary to manage performance.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's a -- that's a somewhat different question than I am asking.


Is OPG satisfied that the PWU members who have progressed through the pay grades all should have done that?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  You're asking me in a very abstract way, and I am having to give you a very abstract response.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I mean, the Board here is setting rates, and, you know, this is money that ratepayers would need to pay, and the question is what is a reasonable amount.


So I am trying to understand, if OPG can't even come to the view that all the people who've progressed through -- the PWU members that have progressed through the pay grades should have -- all should have done that based on the rules, then how can this Board be satisfied that that has happened and that the amount that you're asking for is appropriate?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And as I've said, if there were significant performance issues, I think we would have seen more resort to withholding of performance through the pay grids and more grievance activity around that.  And we haven't, and so it is my conclusion from that that employees are progressing well and their managers are satisfied of that.


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, I just have a follow-up question.  I mean, who is in charge of that?  Is that your function, Mr. Fitzsimmons?  Or is that an HR function, that someone is checking to make sure that the progression is taking place and that there are checks and balances?  I guess I'm not understanding between the two of you whose department is in charge of that.  And if it is neither of you, then who is it?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sure.  Well, I think at its most basic it is a managerial accountability.


MS. LONG:  Well, I understand that, and I understand what you're saying is you feel that your managers have the skills in order to make certain assessments, but at the end of the day, who from the corporate body makes sure that people are progressing through pay scales appropriately?  I mean, who is in charge?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So the -- I think what you're asking me is are there controls in place to check what managers are actually doing, in terms of exercising their duties?  Am I understanding that correctly?


MS. LONG:  I guess what I'm asking is, is this an HR function?  Is it you, Ms. Earle, as director of HR that has some type of process in place that you are checking when people are going up pay grades, that there is a process in place and you're satisfied with that?


I mean, I understand the individual manager might be making recommendations, but at the end of the day there's got to be someone who is looking and seeing that people are progressing through pay scales and you are satisfied with that.  So is that your role?


MS. EARLE:  From a pay perspective, certainly it is the HR function that processes the pay.  Based on the language in the collective agreement, in terms of specific progression dates when you enter into a role, your progression is one year from the date of starting that role.


And prior to progression, HR would send out a request just to say, Employees are progressing on this date.  Please advise if progression should be withheld for any reason.

But again, further to Mr. Fitzsimmons' comment, it is up to the responsible and accountable manager to identify if there is a reason for withholding progression.


MS. LONG:  And at the end of the day I guess you're doing the check to see that performance evaluations are or are not being completed?  Is that an HR responsibility?


MS. EARLE:  Because there's no formal requirement to have a performance -- a formal performance review documented for the Power Workers' Union, HR does not monitor that, because there is not that requirement to have that formally documented.


MS. HARE:  Why isn't -- since we have interrupted you, Mr. Rubenstein, we will give you time at the end.  Since we're on that topic, I have never heard of an organization that doesn't have a formal requirement to document performance.  Why don't you have a formal requirement to document performance?


MS. EARLE:  I'm probably going to let Mr. Fitzsimmons speak to that, because it's been a -- probably a -- or perhaps Mr. Chaykowski can chime in, but in terms of the collective bargaining process, this again is specific to the Power Workers' Union.


MS. HARE:  So you do have a formal requirement for the non-unionized workers, those 1,200 whatever non --


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  There is a formal -- so there is documentation for each of those employees on an annual basis? 


MS. EARLE:  The non-unionized employees, yes.  And I believe we were speaking to that earlier in terms of the performance planning tool, and the expectation and mandate that all management group employees have a documented performance review.


MS. HARE:  Well, you're kind of answering the question, but not really.  You're talking about the expectation.  Mr. Fitzsimmons also talked about the tools available.


But who checks that it is done?  Like, do you know it's done? 


MS. EARLE:  So for management group, because it is a requirement, we do -- HR does check to ensure that it's done and we monitor compliance.


Because for the Power Workers Union it is not a formal requirement, that check is not in place.


MS. HARE:  What about for the Society? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  For the Society, there are -- it's the same.  It is not a formal requirement per se, but it is advisable.  But there is a -- there is a formal process for somebody moving from one pay band to another with senior -- with more senior experience, which is based on -- evaluated based on a hard set of criteria called qualifying accomplishments, to ensure that they have met those qualifying accomplishments before they can move through to more senior positions within the Society. 


MS. DUFF:  So from the Auditor General report on page 168, where they had the example of some executives had incomplete or no performance evaluation documentation, that verification that HR -- that function that you're performing, is that something new that you have put in since the Auditor General report in 2013?  Otherwise, how could this have happened? 


MS. EARLE:  Right.  That's true.  So the mandate that -- across the organization at the management group level, that is new, in response to the AG, that we monitor compliance at all levels of management to ensure that that performance plan is in place. 


MS. DUFF:  Thank you. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to follow up, actually, on a response you just made to Ms. Long about how the process works with the PWU.


So essentially, HR sends out -- I don't know -- a notice or some memo to supervisors and says, I think you were saying -- correct me if I'm wrong, that you say, you know, the employee is going to move through this pay grade on this date.  Tell us if there are any issues with that employee.


Is that how I understood the process? 


MS. EARLE:  That is a fair characterization, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we can turn back to page 168 of the Auditor General's report, and under "Unionized staff," second paragraph -- second sentence reads -- I mean –- and this – well, I will read the whole thing:

"We found the performance evaluation for unionized employees had not been done adequately and consistently."


And it says:

"For example, the collective agreement for PWU staff stipulates a progression through the steps and the salary ranges will be time-based, subject to satisfactory performance and successful completion of training, and that progression is to be withheld for six months if performance is not satisfactory."


So first, is that, in your view, a fair characterization of the agreement with the PWU? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you interpreted that to say that instead of it will be time-based and we will require a performance evaluation that says someone has done their -- you know, has met their requirements, it is actually the opposite?  You're going to move through it, unless we have -- there's some sort of notice that we get from a supervisor that someone has not met the performance evaluation? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's certainly the way the contract is established. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And you think that is a reasonable -- that's a reasonable method?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I do think it is reasonable.  It was agreed to in the contract at the time.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand that it was agreed to, but do you still -- I understand there's –-


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Why would you think that is reasonable?  It seems to me that --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Why?  Because I think we hire decent employees, with an expectation that they will do well in the company, and that we don't expect that we're going to hire people that are simply going to -- are going to fail.


We put people through rigorous training programs.  We do hire people in a lot of cases -- most of our employees are with post-secondary educations.  And we expect that they are going to perform well for this company. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to move on to another issue. 


Mr. Fitzsimmons, do you remember a conversation you had on Friday with Mr. Stephenson?  There was a discussion about the last round of negotiations between the PWU and OPG, and I think he put it to you that one of the priorities of OPG in that round of collective bargaining was that you would be able to execute on business transformation, that that was one of the priorities for OPG at that time? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that was one of the priorities. 


Now, was there anything added to the collective agreement or removed from the collective agreement that would allow you to undertake business transformation? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Is it possible, so that I'm not restrained in my response, that we could deal with this in-camera?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Could I just give a yes answer to that right now and we can come back to that? 


MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.  We can do that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is more than fine.  Dr. Chaykowski, you were having a long discussion with Mr. Stephenson also on Friday about relative bargaining power between the OPG and PWU.  And I think Mr. Stephenson was trying to suggest that, you know, the PWU has significant bargaining power, and that, you know, if OPG had sought a large reduction, that the PWU would likely strike.


And then I think your response to that generally was -- will there be a potential impact on -- of a work stoppage to OPG on the public interest, and that there would be a likely chance of back-to-work legislation.  I think you were talking about that potentially would come with interest arbitration.


Do you remember that as sort of a fair characterization of the conversation you had?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I recall that conversation, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that sort of a fair characterization of that conversation?  I just --


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It is a thumbnail sketch of that conversation.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And could we -- can we agree there is a significant public interest component to the activity of electricity generation?  Clearly?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Oh, I think there is, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Especially with nuclear power?  Safety issues?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Definitely, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is it -- can we agree it is probably -- it would be very hard to predict what would happen if there was a strike, or if -- you know, what was -- if the OPG had offered something else and if the PWU would have striked, and how the government would have responded to that and what the methods that the government would have used to respond to that situation.


Can we agree it is very hard -- there are lots of different permutations of what could have happened and it's very hard to predict with really any certainty what would have happened?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I'm sorry, in terms of what piece of that, what you're describing? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if -- would it be hard to predict that -- because there was a discussion about what would have happened if the OPG had made a different offer, and I think Mr. Stephenson was trying to suggest that if, you know, if there was a reduction, that his members of -- the PWU members might strike.  Would we -- then the consequences of that strike, can we agree there is a lot of moving parts there and it is very hard to predict what would happen specifically?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, it is hard to know ex-post what the breaking points are, what the lines are before, you know, there will be a strike or a lockout. 


We don't see inside the collective bargaining process while it is ongoing.  We only see the outcome event, which is a strike.


And I would say that it is unlikely that either party, in terms of work stoppage or a lockout, would go there, unless it was serious, and that they were taking that step because they were willing to go far with it.


And I think that that is generally recognized.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if there was a strike, it is very hard to predict the reaction -- because there's a public interest component, the reaction of the government, if there would be back-to-work legislation or what -- how that would -- what that actually would entail?  That is very hard for us predict?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I think in the current context, I would say with a high degree of certainty that the government would not tolerate a long strike, that they would, in fact, move the parties toward interest arbitration.  And there is no reason for them not to do that. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I want to discuss the Society now.  And my understanding from the evidence is that OPG's collective agreement with the Society runs through the entire test period.  It runs from January 1st, 2013 to the end of 2015; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 83 of our compendium, this is the Albertyn award.  On page 85 of the compendium.  This is the first page of the award, and it sets -- you can correct me if I'm wrong.  It is extracting, I think, whatever it would be, Article 15 of the collective agreement here.  This is the jurisdiction and the factors that the arbitrator must take into account?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.  Which are generally reflective of the considerations that any interest arbitrator will take into account.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I will get to that in a moment.


But this was agreed upon by the parties, and this acts to -- we might disagree on the extent, but it does restrict how -- and the arbitrator what they can consider?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Sorry, could I -- I am not sure it completely restricts.  They shall consider these things, but generally -- I don't know about this particular case, but generally in our interest arbitration, I don't think there is any bounds to what an interest arbitrator can choose to consider.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So "shall" does not restrict?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  No, I think "shall" says you have to consider these, but it doesn't mean you can't consider other things.  That would be my reading.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that OPG's position as well?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sorry.  I think Mr. Chaykowski's characterization of that is, I mean, the arbitrators are free -- have a wide berth in interest arbitration.  These are certainly the guiding parameters which the parties have agreed on, but the arbitrator will come to this with respect to their own views and their own practice, in terms of what they feel is a relevant consideration.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I mean, it seems to me it is a jurisdiction-limiting provision that would sort of restrict the arbitrator's jurisdiction, but I will leave it.
And I just want to talk about number (a).  This is "a balance assessment of internal relatives, general economic condition, and external relatives".


I just want to be clear, because there was a lot of discussion last week.  When we're talking about -- when we're talking about external relativities, we're not talking about benchmarking of the actual positions.  We're talking about, what are other -- in other negotiations or other completed collective agreements and in other awards in sort of similar -- or however the arbitrator determines what a similar employer-employee situation is.  That is what we're looking at here?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.  Yes, that's exactly what it is, and I was making that distinction the other day between the role of benchmarking studies in both collective bargaining and interest arbitration versus this idea of comparable bargaining units.  And it is comparable bargaining units that are relevant here.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that the Aon Hewitt study -- or I guess this was -- this was not around at the time, but the Towers Perrin study from the last proceeding, I think we discussed that is not -- that wouldn't be considered?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think, if I could take you to the finding of Mr. Albertyn, and if I take you to page 15 and, in particular, paragraph 30 on the external relativities and his conclusion, that the relevant external comparators are those in the energy sector, particularly the Society-represented employees in other energy sector companies.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if we turn over the page we're looking at, you know, the increases or -- between -- in other collective bargaining situations or arbitration situations, right?  It is not the actual compensation -- you know, the average employee compensation or the benchmarking, like in the Aon Hewitt study or the Towers Perrin study from the last proceeding.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So the wage schedules in some of those collective agreements certainly form part of the analysis.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you look at the wage schedule, but you don't provide them with sort of -- the Towers Perrin study compared from the last proceeding, which would have been around at the same time, would have compared OPG employees to other electricity-relevant or electricity -- energy sector employees, which would give you a broader picture than the wage schedules for, let's say, than the companies on page 16.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I don't believe that those sort of studies are -- and consistent with what Mr. Albertyn has found -- are going to be of much assistance whatsoever in determining the outcome in collective bargaining, whether that be via interest arbitration or in two-party settlements.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  I think we've had -- there's been discussion about that.  I just asked the question because I didn't see anywhere in the Albertyn award any reference to those studies.  Clearly there's other evidence that may have been provided to him that just doesn't make its way into the summary of his award.


So my question is, was any of that provided?  Was any of that put into evidence during the arbitration process?


MS. EARLE:  If I could just quickly interject, so the Towers Perrin study that you're referring to, I think we clarified that earlier this week, but that was actually some analysis OPG had done internally.  It wasn't a formal study.  So there wasn't a document at that point.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it was based on data -- you did the -- you had the data.  You did the comparison.  But was any of that provided during the arbitration process?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  And for the reasons I have stated, because I do not believe it would have any influence or value in terms of the outcome of the negotiations and what will ultimately sway the arbitrator's decision.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I want to now talk about the internal relatives.  Am I correct that the PWU is the most important?  In the arbitration award it is the Power Workers' Union which is clearly -- it is the other big unionized environment.  That is the most important internal comparative?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Page 27 of Mr. Albertyn's decision certainly concludes that to the most important comparator for OPG Society collective agreement is the agreement between OPG and the PWU.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then he goes on to say:

"From the evidence presented I am persuaded that the PWU agreement resulted in a net cost to the employer of 0.75 percent per year over the three-year agreement."


And if we look at the last sentence on that same paragraph, paragraph 59, it says:

"The historical pattern of maintaining parity with the PWU settlement should be conserved."


This is all under the conclusions on proposal.  So is it fair to say that the PWU collective agreement is really the largest driver to the -- to Mr. Albertyn's award?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's certainly his -- certainly his conclusion.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 127 of our compendium.  I am not asking about the -- I'm not asking about the confidential attachment, but if you think the question may go into that area, please stop me.


So Mr. Albertyn, based on the analysis and the evidence that he was provided, thought, you know, it was not a net zero reduction that you received.  He thought it was a 0.75 percent increase.  Is that your understanding?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's my understanding.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then you talk about here on page 34 of this undertaking response, you say:

"The advice to government OPG has also included savings associated with staff reductions that amounted to a large overall net savings and a smaller savings associated with the cost association with the collective bargaining by adding a third year to the collective agreement.  These amounts produce savings beyond the net zero amount."


And then if we go to the line 42, it says:

"The Albertyn arbitration did not consider the additional savings related to staff reductions and bargaining referred to in the OPG net zero calculation contained in the advice to government document.  For strategic labour reasons, they were not put before the arbitrator by OPG.  This information also is not -- also not included in staff 101."

So my understanding from that, then, you did get the net zero reduction, but the information you provided to the arbitration and was the basis for his award was not the full picture.  And based on the information that you provided, and you say for strategic labour reasons, that he awarded a 0.75 percent increase; Correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  His finding was that the award to the PWU, in his calculations, netted to 0.75 percent increase.


His award with respect to the Society were a 1.75 percent increase in the first year and 0.75 in the second and third years of the collective agreement. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We agree the PWU agreement was a large -- it was really the defining -- the defining basis to come to the -- Mr. Albertyn's award? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  The PWU agreement clearly, with reference back to his decision, was a primary consideration in his award.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And he -- and the basis of that was on incomplete information provided by OPG? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Mr. Albertyn made his own calculations based on information that was provided by OPG.  There were certainly good reasons for withholding some information, in terms of what that may do in terms of prejudicial costs to be incurred at a later date.


And so for strategic labour relations reasons and to ensure that we were minimizing any further economic impact as a result of collective bargaining, yes, there was some information that was withheld. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you think it is reasonable for ratepayers to bear that cost? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  In the circumstances, where we were trying to mitigate further economic impacts, I think that we acted reasonable in the circumstances.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, is there anywhere in the evidence -- I couldn't find it; it's a lot of evidence -- of where it would show if that -- if you had provided all of that information to the arbitrator, and that the actual -- well, he found it was a 0.75 percent effective increase based on the information you provided.  And he had actually found that there would be a zero percent increase, is there a difference?  Is that located in the evidence? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can I just get you to ask --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I am sort of processing as you were talking.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's my fault.  I am just trying to understand if there is anywhere in the evidence that would provide –- and you might have not been asked this question in an interrogatory undertaking.  So the basis of the arbitrator award was on what he found -- for most of it, was on the 0.75 percent increase based on the PWU. 


But we know that actually the PWU, at the very least, it was a net zero.  Do we know, if that information had been provided to the arbitrator and he had found that there was a PWU increase of zero percent and then adjusted his decision accordingly, what the difference is for the test period? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  There is -- there is information in one of the undertakings -- sorry, I think, if I understand your question, I think what you're asking me is is there evidence -- is there anything in our evidence that, if the arbitrator was to award zero percent to the Society, what would the impact of that have been? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  That is another way of --


MS. IRVINE:  That's your question? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  A better way of putting it, yes.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Okay.  Sorry.  I don't believe that there is anything in the evidence on that point, no. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide that information? 


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We could have that amount calculated, bearing in mind that, you know, these are the conclusions of the arbitrator in this proceeding, and his result in terms of the costs that have been associated with this. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand. 


MR. MILLAR:  J9.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF THE IMPACT OF THE ARBITRATOR AWARDING ZERO percent TO THE SOCIETY.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to turn to page 103 of our compendium.  This is, again, from the Albertyn award.


If we go to page 39, it says:

"OPG is going through significant downsizing.  Almost 2,000 positions are to be reduced by attrition by December 2015.  Consequently, the retention and recruitment of staff will not be a priority for OPG's business for the foreseeable future.  Also, OPG experiences no difficulty recruiting qualified staff."


Now, I am assuming he's -- maybe I am incorrect.  Is he speaking about just -- or is it your interpretation he's just speaking about recruiting Society positions, or, you know, OPG as a whole? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  This was put very specifically on point with some classifications within the Society. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would it be fair to apply this generally to OPG as a whole? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, I think OPG needs to be concerned on the whole about its ability to attract and retain employees. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even during the downsizing of almost 2,000 positions? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  There will be, in the nuclear industry and in other critical positions, specialized skills, trades, operators, certainly a need -- even in a downsizing exercise -- to replace a lot of those -- a lot of those key skills.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the difference between you're going to fill some positions versus there is a difficulty recruiting the positions to be filled, are you having difficulties recruiting qualified staff, generally in OPG? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We are not experiencing difficulty -- in certain classifications, anyway -- recruiting qualified staff. 


In more senior levels, the market is still very tough and there is a lot of competition for talent. 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But generally speaking, is it -- can we make a general statement? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I wouldn't make -- I wouldn't make a generalization.  I know with some of the construction associations that I am involved with, employers are very concerned about a lack of supply of -- a lack of supply of skilled trades. 


There's still a significant amount of migration to Alberta.


There is a lot of recruitment now, even overseas, to bring qualified skilled workers into the Canadian market.


And there are very -- they're very concerned about some of the large projects, about where some of these workers are going to be available from.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But putting aside the construction union, because it is a very small part, and I am just talking about management, Society and the PWU, I mean, you're recruiting them.  I am not talking about sort of broader industry.


OPG, is OPG having a problem filling positions that it needs to fill? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Well, what I'm saying is we still need to be worried about the impact for some of those skilled trades and our ability to recruit in the future. 


And those are classifications, for example, within the Power Workers.  On the specific examples that were cited in this arbitration award, we were satisfied, on balance.


And we had an example –- and I can't remember the numbers off the top of my head –- we were able to demonstrate that we didn't have a -- we didn't have a problem in that specific example that was cited, which was being used as a broad proposition.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to paragraph 40, it says:

"Similarly, OPG appears to experience no difficulty in retaining qualified staff.  Except for employees who retired, the termination rate for Society employees in 2011 was only 1.1 percent."


Now, with respect to OPG as a whole, and the management and PWU positions, is OPG having a problem retaining their qualified staff, currently? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  While our retirement statistics and the number of people leaving with respect to a downsizing exercise is both -- an opportunity, it is also -- it's also a risk as well.  But our rates of people quitting still remains fairly low.  So we are able to retain employees until they reach the -- their retirement factors.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I just take you to page 128 of the compendium.  This is my last question.  This was -- maybe you can help me with this.  This is with respect to apparent -- the role of apparent cause evaluators.


My understanding -- and we have attached on page 29 and 30 an excerpt from the technical conferences -- is these are not -- it is a qualification there.  It is not their sole job.  People who have this role, you know, they do have this role, and they -- you know, it is a secondary aspect of their job.  They still have a primary role.  This is one of the qualifications.  Is that how you understand it as well?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do those employees, because of that qualification, do they receive any allowance or bonus?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Not that I'm aware of.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is no financial benefit for them to be an apparent cause evaluator?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  It still wouldn't be something that, if you imposed that requirement on any of the unionized staff, they may claim that there is additional compensation to be warranted for that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are the employees in those -- are they more likely to move up the pay bands?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Based on that qualification in isolation?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


I think we will take our lunch break now, but Mr. Shepherd, maybe you could tell us how long you expect to be and whether or not you are going to start on the public record and then go into camera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going into camera.  Mr. Rubenstein has some further questions at the end of my cross, which would be in camera.


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I expect to be about 90 minutes.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  So we will take our lunch break now and return at 1:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:36 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated. 


Okay, Mr. Shepherd?
 

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I just might, I was reflecting on the last undertaking that we had given in relation to the requirement associated with the Society collective bargaining agreement.  And as I understood the question to have been, essentially, if the economic effect of the Society agreement were not 0.75, if the economic effect were zero, what would be the effect on the revenue requirement.


MS. HARE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SMITH:  I think it is important to appreciate -- and it may be that this is the subject of further examination by the finance panel, but I do want to get it out there so everyone understands it -- that the 2013 to 2015 business plan, which underpins OPG's payment amounts applications, actually includes a forecast, economic effect or economic increase for the Society of zero percent already. 


And so it doesn't include the amount of the Albertyn award of 0.75. 


So the answer to the undertaking is going to be the impact of -- if Albertyn had reached zero as to the economic effect, what would be the impact on the revenue requirement?  The answer to that question is going to be zero.


And that can be explored with Mr. Mauti, who is on the finance panel, but that is already included in OPG's application.


Now, OPG did include -- so people understand fully -- 1 percent for a step progression.  That's dealt with elsewhere in Mr. Albertyn's award, and he did award 1 percent as well.


So that's the full picture.  We can put this in an undertaking as well, because, based on our earlier conversation, that would be preferable, but that is the answer.  So there is not an amount.


If people want the full story with respect to the PWU, the PWU amount in the payment amounts application includes the amounts actually set in the collective agreement for 2014 and 2015, up to the end of March, which is when the collective agreement expires, plus 1 percent for step progression.  The application assumes thereafter zero.


Whether that's achievable in collective bargaining is of course a different question, but the application assumes zero, plus 1 percent progression.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Rubenstein, do you have any comments? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, I –- Mr. Smith was telling me this over the break, and I was trying to think through the implications of that.


So I was wondering, then, if we could amend the undertaking, then, to ask:  If the progression was -- if the Albertyn award, with respect to the 0.75, was included in the application, what would be the revenue requirement amount? 


MR. SMITH:  Um...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In the end, it may not be an important part of the puzzle, but we can reflect on the implications of that after. 


MR. SMITH:  If my friend -- I mean, the payment amounts would be higher, by 0.75 as it relates to Society.


If my friend would like us to do that math and the Board thinks that that is useful, we could do that. 


MS. HARE:  I think we would like you to do it.


MR. SMITH:  Okay. 


MR. MILLAR:  Is that an amendment to the existing undertaking, Ms. Hare?


MS. HARE:  I'm not sure it is.  I don't think it is.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's give it a new... so it is J9.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  TO PROVIDE THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT AMOUNT IF THE ALBERTYN AWARD WERE INCLUDED IN THE APPLICATION.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Any other preliminary matters, then? 


MR. SMITH:  No.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, anything from you? 


MR. MILLAR:  No. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to go?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Madam Chair, I have a compendium, which I hope copies have been provided to you.


MS. HARE:  Yes, we have it.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, this is volume 2 of the School Energy Coalition compendium for panel 5, and it will be K9.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  VOLUME 2 OF SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to note on the record, Madam Chair, that I believe this is the first time anybody has done a landscaped compendium.  It is a first before the Board.  Some things are more important than others.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I am co-counsel with Mr. Rubenstein on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  I don't think I know any of you, actually, so this is my first time meeting you. 


Let me start with understanding conceptually one item with respect to pension and post-employment benefit costs.


If I understand correctly, those costs are calculated three different ways, depending on what you're using them for.


So you have the first way -- and tell me whether this is right -- is your current service costs -- which are cash costs, right?  Your current service cost is something you actually have to contribute to the plan, right? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, based on accounting -- it is an accounting expense, the current service cost. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't contribute that to the plan? 


MS. LADAK:  I'm not sure exactly what the contribution to the plan would be.  I'm not really -- we're not the panel to speak to that.  That would really be the finance people.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am at a little bit of a loss here, because I want to talk about the costs of your plan and why you have the costs that you have.  And I am not going to ask the accounting issues, but I do need to know the difference between the three types of costs.


And you're the HR people.  Do you not know what the difference is between the three types of costs? 


MS. LADAK:  Well, the HR people do know, but they know what's -- what the plan includes and what kind of coverage is provided in the costs, but I am not sure, when you're talking about the cash costs versus the expense -- I will let them speak to it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me rephrase the question.  We'll see whether we can get there. 


If you take a look at page 2 of our compendium, this is your Undertaking J3.5.  And you will see at the bottom of the first of that page, page 2 of our compendium, you will see pension and other post-employment benefit current service costs as per Exhibit N2-1-1.


And it is 273.6 in 2014 and 281.5 in 2015.  So those are current service costs, right? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you actually contribute those amounts to the plan, right? 


MS. LADAK:  I don't know. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I mean, those are the costs that were -- those are the costs that we're committed to into in the funding for the plan.  In terms of how that is actually accounted for, sir, I can't answer your question with respect to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to get to that.


So then at the other extreme, you have the accrued pension and other post-employment benefit costs, which for the test period are $1,294,000,000, right?


You talked to Mr. Millar about that yesterday, 675 million in 2014 and 618-point-something million in 2015, right?


MS. LADAK:  Those figures are from the financial statements, so they're for the entire company, not just the regulated operations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really? 


MS. LADAK:  Because they're from OPG's financial statements, unless he was using –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, that's not actually correct.


MS. LADAK:  Was he using the prescribed facilities financial statements? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't know, but I am using N2-1—1, which is your second impact statement, in which you say you want the ratepayers to pay $1,294,000,000.  Did you not know that? 


MS. LADAK:  No, I do know that, but I would actually like to defer these questions to the finance panel. 


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Members of the Panel, as OPG indicated in its -- and as I have advised Mr. Shepherd, the costing of the pension plan and whether things are cash items or not cash items is all captured in Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, section 6.3 and thereafter. 


And as we advised in the witness panel responsibilities provided in advance of the hearing, that issue, which is very complicated, is to be dealt with by the finance people, the people who are responsible for that.


So this panel can talk about the particular benefits that are provided in the various plans and how those may have changed, but the aspect that my friend is now examining on is not an area of responsibility for this panel.  And we have advised my friend of that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, they did talk about this yesterday.  At numerous times during Mr. Millar's cross-examination, they talked about the 675 million and the 618 million.  Pretty straightforward.  They talked about the ratio of contributions.


If they, if these witnesses, can't talk to us about -- at a high level.  I'm not talking about the detailed accounting discount rates and things like that, but if they can't talk to us at a high level about how much they're asking from the Board, this is pretty difficult for us to cross-examine on.
And what my friend appears to be saying is, well, we can talk about the mushy part of this, we can talk about the stuff that doesn't have any numbers attached to it, but as soon as we want to talk about numbers, we have to do it in reverse order with another panel.  That doesn't make sense to me.


So I would like to know how much do these witnesses actually know about pensions.  How much can they help us with this?


MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, which issue is it that you are going after?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Probably 6.8.  Yes, 6.8.


MS. HARE:  Well, 6.8, I see assigned to this panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But I think Mr. Smith is correct --


MS. HARE:  Support from panel 1, 2, 4, and 7.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Smith is correct that they told us that the specific evidence, F4, tab 3, schedule 1, section 6.3, with the pension details was for panel 7.


MS. HARE:  Correct.  I see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And my understanding was, discount rates and all the underlying mechanics of the pension analysis was panel 7, and that's how I have split it up.


But this is very basic stuff that I am asking right now, very basic.


MR. SMITH:  All I would say in response to that, Madam Chair, is I'm happy to take the questions.  The witnesses may have to defer, and I would ask them to simply say whether they know or don't know, and I don't think, in advance, we're in a position to have an advance ruling that this question or that question is not within the witnesses' or should be within the witnesses' area of responsibility.  I am happy to take the questions as they come, but this was the very issue that I raised when Mr. Stephenson was cross-examining, that there are aspects that have to be dealt with by the specific accounting individuals.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Give us a moment, please.

[Board Panel confers.]

MS. HARE:  We will be back in a minute.


--- Recess taken at 1:50 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:55 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


So we understand Mr. Kogan is going to be added to this panel, and that will enable answers to be provided to Mr. Shepherd's line of questioning; is that correct?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Fluid situation, but yes, we have Mr. Kogan, who would have been or will be on panel 7, and I believe should be able to answer the questions that I expect my friend will be asking.


With your indulgence, I would ask Mr. Kogan to come forward.  He does not have a tie.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  And was not expecting to be called as a witness and I don't have a CV for him, but I would ask him to be affirmed as the -- somebody in charge of something, who has --


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  -- who has been with OPG in positions of increasing responsibility for some period of time.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  And on that basis, I would ask that he be brought forward.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Mr. Kogan will be affirmed by Ms. Duff.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5, resumed


Lubna Ladak, Previously Affirmed


Jason Fitzsimmons, Previously Affirmed


Ali Earle, Previously Affirmed


Richard Chaykowski, Previously Affirmed


Alex Kogan,  Affirmed.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Kogan, what is your position at OPG?


MR. KOGAN:  Director of business planning and regulatory finance.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  I should have added that Mr. Kogan has testified before this Board before, and has testified in relation to this issue before this Board before.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd?

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me retrace my steps just briefly.


There are three levels at which pension and other post-employment benefit costs are calculated, I believe.


The first level is current service costs, which is the costs associated with your active employees.  And it is a contribution you make to the plans, the funded plans, right?


MR. KOGAN:  I don't think that's quite correct.  There is a current service component to both the accounting costs and the cash contributions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, then why don't you take a look at page 2 of our compendium, and tell us what that pension and other post-employment benefit current service costs as per Exhibit N2-1-1 is?


MR. KOGAN:  This is the component of the costs determined in accordance with GAAP that are presented in the N2 impact statement, and -- as that is the basis upon which these costs are being proposed for recovery.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So some portion of this is a cash cost?


MR. KOGAN:  Cash cost would be a different calculation, so it wouldn't be a subset of these amounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Because then the second level is there are additional cash costs for special payments, right?


MR. KOGAN:  There may be special payments toward a deficit as determined in accordance with the Pension Benefits Act.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So for the test period, you expect to have additional special payments, right?


MR. KOGAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the current service costs, as I understand it, are 555.1 million for the test period; is that right?


MR. KOGAN:  That's correct.  The accounting current service costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much of that is cash?


MR. KOGAN:  Again, cash amounts are not a subset of these amounts; it's a different calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but some portion of the current service costs have to be paid into the plan in cash, don't they?


MR. KOGAN:  Maybe it will help.  There is a current service cost concept, both in accounting and funding, so there will be an equivalent current service cost cash amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what that is?


MR. KOGAN:  I don't know off the top of my head right now, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have -- so I want to make sure we understand what these different numbers are.  You have a number that is current service costs, and so in -- for example, in JT2.33, embedded in all those numbers is the current service costs, and also in the attachment to J3.5 you have current service costs, right?


MR. KOGAN:  All those numbers in relation to labour costs and the various slicing and dicing of those costs that have been discussed only includes the accounting current service cost elements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And they don't include special payments, special cash payments, right?


MR. KOGAN:  Again, it is an apples-to-oranges, because one is a cash amount and one is an accounting amount.  So there are no cash amounts at all in these dollars, because they're all determined in accordance with GAAP.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it is interesting you say that, because you also have an accrued number, which is what you're asking the ratepayers to pay, right?


And that is $1,294,000,000 over the test period; isn't that right?


MR. KOGAN:  Could you point me to where you are looking at?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it is actually N2-1-1, page 3.


We talked about this number at some length.  $675 million in 2014 and $618 million in 2015; isn't that right?


MR. KOGAN:  So all of the numbers you're citing, as per Exhibit N2-1-1, is the total accounting pension and OPEB costs that we're seeking for recovery.


An element of those costs are the numbers that you were referring to earlier at the bottom of, I believe, page 1, J3.5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what is the difference between those?


MR. KOGAN:  Other components of pension and OPEB costs determined in accordance with GAAP, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.  You said the ones on page 2 of our materials in J3.5 were the accounting costs.  The ones on the screen right now from N2-1-1 are the accounting costs.  There's a big difference.


Which ones are the accounting costs?


MR. KOGAN:  The total accounting costs are N2-1-1-1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the difference between the two, the 555 million that is the current service accounting costs and the 1-billion-294-million, that difference is additional costs that you have to recognize for past service; is that right?  Or for under-funding?  Or both?


MR. KOGAN:  So it includes a number of components.


A useful reference would be at Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1, page 27, lines 15 through 22.  I will just briefly walk through those.


Certainly the current service costs, as we have discussed, as well as there is an interest improvement component to the obligation --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just stop you?  Is this being put up on the screen?  Because maybe we should wait until it is up on the screen.


MR. KOGAN:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're looking at a table somewhere; is that right?


MR. KOGAN:  No.  I was looking at a paragraph that starts at line 15, just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.


MR. KOGAN:  -- so that that there is an evidentiary reference.


But as the paragraph states, there is the current service cost component.  There is an interest improvement or an interest cost component on the obligations that have been accrued to date, because those obligations are calculated on a present value basis, so you're basically just having to step one more year, one more period in time, and do the time value of money.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KOGAN:  There is also the expected return on the assets that have been invested in the fund that are expected in the period, the expected long-term rate of return.  So that is a reduction to the cost, if you will.


There are relatively small amounts for past service costs arising from plan amendments that have occurred in the past.  And I don't think we've had too many, if any, recently, so those amounts would be quite small.


And then there would be amounts that amortize the actuarial gains and losses that have accumulated, and those would have to do with different experience than you would have expected when you set the costs in the past.


So for example, in the past you would have expected to achieve a certain return on your assets.  It's to the extent that return was different, in accordance with GAAP you would be able to recognize the impact of that difference over a period of time due to various smoothing mechanisms.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what I don't think I heard yet is, are the -- are the amounts you charge for accounting purposes for pension and other post-employment benefits, are they the 555.1 million or are they the 1,294,000,000 over the test period?


MR. KOGAN:  It is the 1-billion number.  That is the total accounting number that is included in the N2 revenue requirement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the difference, that 739 million difference, that difference is these additional things that you have referred to here?  These various actuarial adjustments, et cetera, right, which --


MR. KOGAN:  These various other integral components of the accounting cost, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have current service.  You have the total amount you are asking for the ratepayers, and in between you have the cash amount, the actual amount that you are going to spend on pensions and other post-employment benefits, which I understand to be 950.6 million.  Is that right?


MR. KOGAN:  And is there a reference for that number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It is N2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4, lines 4 and 5.


MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  The sum of those two numbers are the forecast amount in the impact statement for cash expenditures.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what happens is that if you get 1,294,000,000 from the ratepayers for this, which you're accounting for on your income statement, you only are allowed to deduct for tax purposes -- tell me whether this is right -- 950.6 million.  Right?


MR. KOGAN:  So again, I will take the number subject to check that it is the sum of the cash amounts at lines 4 and 5 that we discussed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. KOGAN:  But, yes, for tax purposes that would be the amount deducted --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the difference -- the difference is taxable, because you received it from the ratepayers, and for tax purposes it is treated like income, right?


MR. KOGAN:  I'm not sure if it is my place, but my preference would be to talk about taxes on the finance panel with my colleagues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just -- I am not going to ask you to give us any detailed numbers.  I am actually asking you -- this panel to give an undertaking in respect of this.  But what I am really trying to get at is, that $343 million difference, that raises a tax obligation in the order of $170 million?  Am I in the ballpark?  Grossed up?


MR. KOGAN:  So the accounting costs are non-deductible for tax, so they are added back to earnings before tax and the cash amounts are subtracted.


So, yes, there is a net amount in income-tax expense that is included in the revenue requirement on the difference between the cash and accounting amounts, the tax rate grossed up -- I'm sorry, I haven't checked the math that you said, but that math can be done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I actually get 115 million.  But anyway, it is a big number, right?  There's a big number of tax implication, right?


MR. KOGAN:  It's the number that flows from these numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  If you have $343 million of additional taxable income, the tax is pretty significant.  Right?


MR. KOGAN:  It is the number that flows from that calculation.  I don't know how to characterize that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you're looking at this from the ratepayers' point of view, the 555.1 million in current service costs, that is really not relevant to us, right, because we're paying more than that.  Right?


MR. KOGAN:  I would disagree.  I think that number is relevant and has been presented in terms of providing the current cost of labour.  And that's why it was included that way in the numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the $950 million in cash costs, which is what you actually have to pay -- you, OPG, not you personally -- that's not really relevant to us either, right, because we have to pay more than that.


MR. KOGAN:  That number -- the cash number enters the revenue requirement calculations through the income tax deductions we've discussed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  And what you're actually asking for is about $1.4-billion from the ratepayers, right?  Which is 1,294, plus the tax impact.  I am rounding it to 1.4.  I am pretty close, right?


MR. KOGAN:  Sure, that would be in the -- that's reasonable.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so --


MR. KOGAN:  I guess would I just add, if that is the tax, that we would pay on receipt of the revenues through the payment amount.  So this isn't tax that we would just pocket, so to speak.  This is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I fully understand that.  Okay.


It is correct, isn't it, that the 555.1 million current service costs -- well, actually, let me turn it around a different way.  There was a discussion yesterday about contribution ratios, and your employees contribute about $70 million a year to their plans, right?


MS. EARLE:  I believe that's correct.  That was a reference from our pension plan report to members.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your cash contributions -- which are included in the amounts that we have to pay -- are 950 million, right?


MR. KOGAN:  No.  I don't think that that -- I am not sure that that is an apples-to-apples, because the employee contributions for the registered pension plan, whereas our cash payment amounts you're citing are contributions to that plan, as well as payments for post-employment benefits.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then let's do that one.  765 is your cash contributions to the pension plan, right?


MR. KOGAN:  No.  Those are the forecast amounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you do the ratio, then that is five-and-a-half to one, isn't it?  You're putting into the plan five-and-a-half times what the employees are; isn't that right?


MR. KOGAN:  So maybe two comments to that.  One is, I think there was a discussion yesterday about what we believe is the more appropriate way to measure the ratio between employer and employee contribution ratios.


And secondly, these pension amounts are our planned contributions.  I'm not sure what -- those will be the final numbers once all the valuations are completed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it might be more or it might be less?

MR. KOGAN:  Short answer is, yes, sitting here today, it may be a somewhat smaller number, but I don't have that number off the top of my head.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that means the billion-294 would also be smaller.  If your valuations drive the cash cost down, then they will drive the accrued cost down too, right?

MR. KOGAN:  I was referring to the funding valuation, not the accounting valuation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Same things drive both?


MR. KOGAN:  Similar things drive both, but they're different exercises.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If your funding valuation says that you pay less than 765 to the pension plan, then doesn't that mean that your total accrued costs that you're asking the ratepayers to pay is too high?


MR. KOGAN:  The pension plan contributions that are presented here are per our 2014-2016 business plan, which was prepared prior to the end of 2013, obviously.  And as such, it doesn't reflect the actual final values and result in the funding valuation that would be in the process of being finalized right about now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I've gone farther afield on this panel than I should have, asking Mr. Kogan questions just because I was interested.  It is really not fair.  This is a panel 7 issue that he is talking about right now, but I would like to ask one more question about this.


You have the results of that valuation, don't you?


MR. KOGAN:  I personally may not have the results, and I am not sure if that funding valuation has been filed.  But I would expect it would be pretty close to being done and pretty close to being filed, I expect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide it?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.6:  TO PROVIDE THE RESULTS OF THE FUNDING VALUATION.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I was really trying to do with this set of questions -- which is only the first page of my cross notes -- is to try to understand how you use different numbers in different places.


And so in all of your compensation information, you're using this number, 500 -- well, the current number is 555.1 million, right?  That's the current service cost number?


MR. KOGAN:  That is the number that I understand is being used for the purposes of the labour costing discussions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because, from your point of view, that's the number that relates to the people who are working right now that are included in your compensation table, right?  That's the pension and other post-employment benefit costs for those people now?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And all of the other stuff, the other 739 million that you are asking the ratepayers to pay, is not about that at all, is it?


MS. LADAK:  It's an expense of the company, but doesn't arise necessarily from the people who are working today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.


Okay.  So I want to take you to, if I could, page 6 of our materials.  Now, this is the attachment to J3.5, and this is, I guess, the third page of the attachment.


And it has -- you will see lines 33 to 35B are totals for the -- all regulated operations, right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, these numbers -- by the way, I'm going to get to this.  These numbers are wrong, right?  Because they're from the first impact, not the second impact, right?


MS. LADAK:  Yeah, we haven't reflected that impact through our application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come back to that.


MS. LADAK:  They're appropriate for the compensation numbers that we have filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But your actual costs for pension and other post-employment benefits are not these numbers in red on line 35A.  The costs that you're asking the ratepayers to pay are 675 and 618; isn't that right?  That's what you're actually asking us to pay?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  This is a table to discuss compensation; it provides various components of compensation for our employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  Good.


Now, I just want to -- one more thing about this.  And that is -- oh, and by the way, sorry, on that same page, page 6, if you take a look at that, you see a number, 21 percent and 22 percent, as the percentage of pension and other post-employment benefit costs related to compensation per FTE, right?  You see that number?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But those numbers actually -- or the 2015 number, I guess, should actually be almost 50 percent, shouldn't it?  The actual costs -- or I guess the 2014 numbers should be actually more like 50 percent, shouldn't it?  Because you are actually asking us to pay 675 million in 2014?


MS. LADAK:  Again, this table is a compensation table.  It's talking about compensation per employee, which is what this entire panel was doing.


So these numbers are appropriate in terms of discussing compensation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. KOGAN:  I guess I would add that we don't think it is a -- necessarily appropriate to measure the total pension cost per FTE, given that it also relates to retired members.  And we have a large population of retirees, obviously, just like other successor companies.


MS. LADAK:  In fact, the number of current active employees is the same as the number of pensioners that we have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is still compensation costs, yes?


MS. LADAK:  Well, they're not compensation for OPG's existing employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is compensation, and we are being asked to pay it; isn't that right?


MS. LADAK:  It is a cost of the company.  It is not compensation of the existing employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move on.  Still looking at J3.5, one thing struck me here.  And you recall that J3.5 has a history, right?  Originally there was JT2.33, which was an undertaking response from the technical conference.


And then there was K2.1, which was a School Energy Coalition compendium in panel 1 of this proceeding, which took JT2.33 and expanded it and did some calculations.  And then you undertook to do some additional calculations on that in J3.5.  Are you aware of this?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  None of those -- tell me whether this is right -- none of those is correct; isn't that right?


MS. LADAK:  I think we've been through this for the last several questions.  These are our compensation costs for the employees, and this whole section is on compensation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they aren't your costs for your employees, because you have done an update, right?  N2-1-1 --


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  We have not reflected that update in this table.  We made that clear when we filed it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we don't actually have an updated copy of this that has current information, do we?


MS. LADAK:  No, you don't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when you had a conversation, for example, yesterday with Mr. Stephenson, and you said that the pension and other post-employment benefit costs per FTE was doubling, that wasn't right, was it?  Because that was -- that was old information, and you now have new information, right?


MS. LADAK:  You are correct.  Yes.  We should have clarified -- I should have clarified that yesterday.


But in fact what we are asking the Board in our payments amounts to provide are not these numbers.  They're the numbers that are part of the impact statement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you look at page 6 of our materials -- and this is right from J3.5 -- you will see line 35A, you've backed out some pension and other post-employment benefit current service costs, right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  I don't have J3.5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it is in our materials, at page 6 of our materials.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Oh, I see, yes.  Thank you.  I was looking at page 6.


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, which page, did you say?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 6 of our materials is the attachment to J3.5, prepared by OPG.


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at line 35A, you will see that for 2014 you have 363.8, and for 2015 you have 368.2.


This was filed -- I don't know -- last week, but those numbers are wrong?


MS. LADAK:  We would not have had the time, like, when this was being prepared to update for the impact statement.  But in terms of the numbers that we're providing, these are actually higher than what we are seeking payment amounts for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, and giving us wrong answers, higher or lower, isn't helpful.  Giving us the correct answers would be helpful.


So what I am going to ask you to do is I'm going to ask you to take J3.5 and correct it so that it has what you're actually asking for.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just with respect, I mean, Mr. Shepherd knows the timing of this.  The undertaking was given in relation to an interrogatory following the first impact statement, and then we had a further undertaking during this proceeding.


And yes, it wasn't possible to update for the second impact statement in order to get the answer out, but it was also not a mystery that it didn't include that, because that is reflected in -- on the answer to the undertaking itself.


So the aspect of this, the -- you didn't tell us that, is simply not correct.


MS. HARE:  Well, I didn't it take that way, that he was criticizing.  He was simply asking or making a statement that:  These numbers aren't correct, are they?  And I think the answer to that is:  No, they're not correct.


So then the second part is:  So can you file the updated numbers?


I would hope the answer to that is yes.


MR. SMITH:  I am sure the answer will be yes to that and we will do it.  It is, of course, all subject to how quickly we can do it, but there is no question we can do it and we will do it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I should just comment that JT2.33, the final copy of that was filed June 6th.  So it was already three weeks after the update.


And K2.1, which I had a long talk with them about last Friday, was wrong, and I didn't know.  And I had a discussion with them.


Mr. Millar yesterday had a whole discussion with them about this, J3.5, and nobody said then:  Oh, by the way, this is all wrong.


So yes, I am alleging that they are not trying to give us the right numbers in an appropriate time frame.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't accept that at all, but we will provide the answer to the undertaking.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.7, which is to update Undertaking J3.5 with the information from the most recent update.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.7:  TO UPDATE UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5 WITH INFORMATION FROM MOST RECENT UPDATE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And...


MS. HARE:  Can you just give us a moment?


[Board Panel confers]


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Smith, the first undertaking that Mr. Shepherd had asked for today, providing -- I guess there's been an update to your valuation.  Rather than provide it as an undertaking, would it not be -- would it be better to file that as an impact statement?


I am just thinking through accounting costs, cash costs, tax implications.  I mean, there is going to be then flowing through everything in the revenue requirement.  I would just ask if you were contemplating that.


[Mr. Smith consults with Mr. Barrett.]

MR. SMITH:  I will have to look into that and take instruction, and the reason I say that is I took from Mr. Kogan's answer that it may not be done.  It may be, but it may not be, and --


MS. DUFF:  We also have the July 2nd filing that you are planning to do, so that provides some time.


MR. SMITH:  It does.  I think I have to stick with what I said before, which is I can look at it, and if it is going to be available, then we will certainly report back on how we propose to deal with it.


MS. HARE:  But if it's not available, how are we going to reconcile the numbers with the new information?


MR. SMITH:  I'm --


MS. LADAK:  Can I just say that this is the funding valuation.  It is not flowing through -- our revenue requirement is based on our pension expense and accounting expense.  It is not cash.  So it wouldn't really impact the revenue requirement.  It won't be an impact statement, because this is what we pay out in cash.  It is not what we recover through rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  May I comment, Madam Chair?


MS. HARE:  Yes, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually will, of course, impact on the revenue requirement, because it will change the tax number.  If nothing else, it will change the tax number.


Isn't that right, Mr. Kogan?


MR. KOGAN:  It will.  I just wanted to clarify that is a funding valuation, as Ms. Ladak said, and it -- yes, that it will change the funding number, which will therefore change the income-tax effect.


It will not -- just to be clear, that is not related to the earlier discussion that was just had around Undertaking J3.5.  There it was a matter of just trueing up, so to speak, to the impact statement for the accounting numbers that was filed in N2.  This is a different matter.  That is all I wanted to clarify.


MR. SMITH:  We will take a look at it.  There is also, of course, the fact that OPG has a pension variance account, which may make this more or less of an issue, but I will just have to put it all in the hopper and get back to you.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I wonder if we could turn to -- back to page 6 of our materials.  We're already on it.  Good.


And I want to just deal briefly with the current service costs, because in 2011 and '12 your current service costs, according to this table, anyway, were 550.3 million, right?  It is just adding up 247.6 and 302.7.  Will you accept it subject to check?


MS. LADAK:  Is this page 6 of your document?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I have lost the thread.  I was thinking about the impact statement.  Where are you on page 6, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 6, line 35A, "pension OPEB" -- sorry, "other post-employment benefits, current service costs, 2011, 247.6, 2012, 302.7".  That was your actual.  550.3 in the last test period, right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. KOGAN:  The actual costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And your current service costs you are currently forecasting for the current test period, two years, is 555.1 million, right?  An increase of $4.8 million.


MS. LADAK:  That looks about right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is a less than 1 percent increase in your current service costs.  Fair?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But because you have fewer employees, it is actually an 8.1 percent increase in your cost per employee, your current service cost per employee; is that fair?  I have it going from $27,135 per employee to $29,321 per employee.  Does that sound about right?  Or will you accept those subject to check?


MS. LADAK:  Sure, subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And that's about 8.1 percent?


MS. LADAK:  That would be subject to check as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the reason I am asking that is because the reason why your current service costs per employee would go up is because of wage -- of average wage increases, right, because you're not actually contributing more.  True?


MR. KOGAN:  No.  Not necessarily.  In fact, the biggest drivers of the change in the current service costs are discount rates, because the -- when you calculate how much cost or future costs are attributed to today's service, it is expressed in present value terms.  So that is also present value number, and it is also sensitive to discount rates, as well as things like mortality assumptions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, we didn't talk about the total cost.  It isn't in this table.  But the total cost in 2011/'12 -- will you accept this subject to check -- was 934.9 million.  If you want to look it up, it is at F4-3-1, pages 36 and 37.  But I am fairly certain I added it up right as 934.9 million.


Will you accept that subject to check?


MS. LADAK:  We are just about done the calculation.


MR. KOGAN:  What was that number again, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  934.9.


MR. KOGAN:  I will take that subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And right now you're asking the ratepayers to pay 1-billion-294, which by my calculations is an increase of 359.1 million, or 38 percent.  Is that right?

MR. KOGAN:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And both of them are -- there's an additional tax associated with them, right?  In both cases.  We talked about that.


MR. KOGAN:  There is a net tax impact associated with the difference between the cost amounts and accounting and cash deductions for the period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2011/'12 you were paying 46,100 per employee in accrued total pension costs.  Will you accept that subject to check?  It is about 35 percent of your net compensation per employee.


MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, you said we are paying?  And that is what -- I am a little bit confused by that term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The amount of this 934.9 million, which you had to charge as an accounting expense, right?  So it was on your income statement as a cost.


MR. KOGAN:  It is a cost, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you bore a cost of 46,100 per employee in 2011/'12, right?  It is just 934.9 times your average number of employees in the two years.


The specific numbers are not critical here.  I am trying to get to sort of bigger than a breadbasket numbers, Mr. Kogan.  So I wonder if you would be agreeable to accepting these numbers subject to check and let us sort of move forward and get --


MR. KOGAN:  No, I have confirmed the numbers.  I can take them subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I get that as about 35 percent of your compensation per employee, as compared to your 2014/2015 forecast, which would be 68,351 per employee as a cost, or 49 percent of compensation.


MR. KOGAN:  So why don't I accept that number subject to check at the break.  Not to prolong this, but I think I want to go back to my earlier point, that this is calculating total costs that encompass a large group of retirees that is about half of the total number of the plan members.


So that's why I'm not sure this is necessarily an appropriate calculation to be doing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, your total cost was 170 percent of your current service cost in 2011-2012, and it is 233 percent of your current service cost in 2014-2015.  That is a big increase.


And I am wondering:  What is the main reason why that would be true? 


MR. KOGAN:  Sorry, could you say that again slowly?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  170 percent, total cost, 170 percent of current service cost in 2011-2012.


In 2014-'15, three years later, it is 233 percent. 


So that wasn't because you had a huge number more retirees, was it?  Something else happened? 


MR. KOGAN:  So I think this is -- said differently, you are looking at what are the drivers of the change in the total pension and OPEB cost over the period.


And I'd probably direct you to Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1; there's some helpful narrative there. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not trying to get into the weeds on that here.  I know that we'll have to talk about it in panel 7, which is more appropriate for panel 7, I am quite sure.


But I am trying to get a sense of what the big impact is, because then I want to talk about how the pension plan is designed, which is the key to this.


MR. KOGAN:  Understood.  Then the big impact is by far the discount rates, lower discount rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  So I would like you to turn to page 8 of our materials, if you could, please.  And this is a table that was provided to you last week; is that right?  I think.  Or maybe Saturday? 


MR. KOGAN:  We have that table. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the witnesses have had a chance to look at this? 


MR. KOGAN:  We have examined some of the numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what this shows is that your -- we used 2014 just because that is the only year that we had a whole lot of people having filed information, a whole lot of utilities.


So we had eight utilities, including my favourite, "Cambidge" and North Dumfries, which Mr. Miles will certainly kill me for.


But it is striking that your annual costs per FTE is more than $70,000 and nobody else is above 20.  Can you help me understand why that is? 


MR. KOGAN:  So when we looked at this table, we really felt that this is, on a number of levels, a total apples-to-oranges comparison.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?


MR. KOGAN:  So for starters, I am not sure -- in fact, I am sure the Hydro One number does not include their other post-employment benefit costs, whereas our number is the pension and other post-employment benefit costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I think -- did you look at the reference?  We gave you the reference.


MR. KOGAN:  I did, and 161 million is their pension number. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay? 


MR. KOGAN:  Secondly, as we have discussed, this is something that we believe is more appropriately measured on a number of plan members, which includes retiree populations, of which we know we have about, let's say, 10,000, and Hydro One maybe has -- I don't know –- eight, ten, 13,000; somewhere in that range.


So I think you have to be doing the analysis that way.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me stop you.  Do you know how many Enbridge Gas Distribution has, retirees? 


MR. KOGAN:  No.  I was trying to actually Google that last night and I couldn't find it, but it was quite late. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Go on. 


MR. KOGAN:  Then of course the basis upon which the numbers are calculated is quite different.  Our numbers are accounting numbers, as we have just discussed, in accordance with GAAP. 


Putting aside the fact that the Hydro One number doesn't have the post-employment benefits, that is a cash contribution number, because that's the basis upon which their costs are included in the requirement. 


So all of those, to me, make this comparison very tenuous.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it is correct that you're on US GAAP, right? 


MR. KOGAN:  Yes, we are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is Hydro One Networks?


MR. KOGAN:  Yes, they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is Enbridge Gas distribution?


MR. KOGAN:  That's what I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are the rules, then, different for the three of you as to what has to be included in accounting costs? 


MR. KOGAN:  No.  Just to be clear, the Hydro One number, which, in my view, is the most important number on this page in terms of being comparable, is not their accounting calculated cost; it is their cash contribution amount.


So we were discussing earlier the whole concept of the funding valuation and there is a number that comes out of that.  Well, we would have a number, and it is not 675.  And just like they would have an accounting number and it is not 161.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you're saying this is not the amount that they're asking the ratepayers to pay? 


MR. KOGAN:  No, that's not what I'm saying.  I'm saying that the amount that this Board has included in the past in their revenue requirements, I understand to be on a cash basis. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And why would they have a cash basis and you would have an accrual basis?  You're both under US GAAP, right?  And so is Enbridge?


MR. KOGAN:  US GAAP governs accounting for your financial reporting.  I understand this Board sets how the amounts are included in the requirement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So does US GAAP require cash or accrual? 


MR. KOGAN:  US GAAP requires accrual, like, accrual accounting. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then Hydro One and Enbridge are doing it wrong, or they have an exception from the Board, right? 


MR. KOGAN:  No.  I think we are -- we're missing each other here.  I think, as we alluded to in our reply argument in the last application and I think it was acknowledged in the EB-2010 decision, there is a variety of recovery methods for pension and OPEB costs that I understand are applied to various utilities.


For us, pension and other post-employment benefit costs are calculated in rates on an accounting -- on an accrual accounting basis, i.e., the same way that an unregulated utility out there who calculates their pension and OPEB costs in accordance with US GAAP would do.


That's the amount we've got and that's the amount in our rates and that have been proposed in this test period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that for 2014 you're asking the ratepayers to pay you $70,656 per employee for pension and other post-employment benefit costs, and Enbridge is asking its ratepayers to pay $15,650 per employee for pension and other post-employment benefit costs?  Isn't that right? 


MR. KOGAN:  I can confirm the math for our calculation.


I was not able to fully examine the Enbridge numbers, but sitting here today, I don't -- I don't know of anything wrong with those numbers, so I can accept that math.


But I go back to my earlier point, that, again, this ignores the fact that there is a large number of retirees we have.  And so does Enbridge; I don't know what that number is.


It also ignores that there may be vast differences in these plans.


Again, going from a very cursory review that I was able to do Googling last night, I found some commentary that Enbridge has both a defined benefit and a defined contribution component to their plan, so -- and I am not all familiar with how their plan works, so I don't know -- I'm not sure this comparison is meaningful.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is exactly where I am going with this, Mr. Kogan.  Thank you very much. 


Because this panel is really about the differences between the plans, and the nature of the OPG plan and its benefits.  And so here is what I am going to ask you to do.


If you think some of the numbers on this table are not fairly comparable -- and we're only looking at costs per FTE, but if we're not including appropriate costs or whatever, can you undertake to update it so that it is fairly comparable? 


MR. SMITH:  I am reluctant to agree to that, unless the Board orders us to do it. 


I don't know what we can do, certainly in relation to the various utilities, certainly after you get to line -- past Enbridge, I don't know what is available with respect to Enbridge.


I did some work looking at Hydro One.  The Hydro One Networks plan is, of course, just a subset of the Hydro One plan.  Hydro One Transmission and Hydro One are both part of the Hydro One plan, and so it takes quite a bit more than looking at the live spreadsheet and a quick review at these filings to figure out what would be an apples-to-apples comparison.


So I am in your hands, but certainly I am not prepared to agree to it unless we're ordered to do it. 


MS. HARE:  Well, I want to understand.  Is the real issue the fact that OPG uses the accrual method and all the rest use the cash method?  Is that why they're not comparable?


MR. KOGAN:  That's I would say the -- one of the biggest areas.  I would just, for clarity of record, say Enbridge does use the accrual method, but Hydro One and I believe in substance many of the LDCs do not.


What I was going to throw out there is, I would probably be somewhat comfortable doing an estimate for a Hydro One comparable number, based on the looking that I've done, that at least I could then talk to.


I am not sure -- at least, just like Mr. Smith, I couldn't find enough detail for Enbridge to be comfortable enough.  Would that be acceptable?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, this is all publicly-available information.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is a large utility on U.S. GAAP that has an application before this Board with detailed pension information, which is where we got it from.


Mr. Kogan admits that it is on an accrual basis.  If he can't tell us this is apples-to-apples, then I don't know what to say.  This is -- there are differences in the plans for sure.  And having a discussion with these witnesses about why they want $55,000 per year more than Enbridge because of differences in their plan, that is important and relevant.


If the numbers are wrong, it is hard to have that discussion, but I think that number, at least, is right, isn't it?


MR. SMITH:  Well, sorry, if I can just comment on that. There is an important legal aspect to this, which is you can't change the benefits and you can't change the plan by wishing it were different.


And so it can't become a defined contribution -- a defined contribution plan as a result of a decision by this Board, which is why the Hydro One Networks comparison is the most apposite, because it is a plan like the OPG plan that grew out of the old Ontario Hydro.


So I think it may be of assistance to -- for this Board to look at what the numbers would be and to take up Mr. Kogan's offer to look at Hydro One, because the numbers, I think, will be instructive in that respect.


But the fact that a different plan has -- produces different costs I don't think is as meaningful to this Board.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd, you would know this.  Enbridge has both a defined contribution and defined benefit plan?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Are they separated out so that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The evidence separates it out, yes.  But this is -- I mean, the whole point of this cross-examination is to talk about whether the OPG plan is producing a reasonable result.


Yes, my friend is absolutely correct, it is hard to get the PWU to change it.  That's not what we're asking.  We're asking, first, how much too much are we spending?  Then the Board has to determine, okay, now what are we going to do about that, given the difficulty in negotiating with the union, but first we have to know how much it is.


MS. HARE:  Why don't we leave it that, Mr. Kogan, you will look and see what you can do with the information that is available and report back to us on Thursday.  I'm not saying you have to have the answer on Thursday, just tell us what you will be able to do on Thursday.


MR. SMITH:  We can do that, Madam Chair, but is that for all of the utilities?


MS. HARE:  No.  I think Hydro One and Enbridge.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Yes, we will do that.


MS. DUFF:  I just have one question.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, is that an under -- sorry, J9.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.8:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON BOTH A DEFINED CONTRIBUTION AND DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kogan wanted to know when he will be here, and gesticulating at me, but, yes, you will be here Friday too, sir.  

[Laughter]  

And for as long as you need to be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Saturday.


MR. SMITH:  And anybody else in the audience.  So, yes, we will report back.


MS. HARE:  I think Ms. Duff has a question.


MS. DUFF:  Do you mind, Mr. Shepherd?  Is it okay?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry.  Go ahead.


MS. DUFF:  The common denominator on this page as presented is, if you could come up with a title for what this chart does say, is it that this is the proposed recovery from ratepayers in 2014 from these different utilities, as far as the OEB is concerned?


MR. KOGAN:  I think once you include the OPB numbers for Hydro One, for example, I think you are just missing there, then, yes.  And it would be, of course, subject to the fact it would be on a per FTE basis which, as I said before, is -- it may not be the best way to calculate it.


MS. DUFF:  The way it is presented in the different columns, that is a choice of how Mr. Shepherd has put this together.  But other than that one qualification regarding Hydro One Networks and the other post-employment benefits, including that in, that would be the only other caveat.  Otherwise these are what has been presented to this Board for revenue recovery in 2014.  Is that -- I am asking your opinion.


MR. KOGAN:  I had a chance to look at the Hydro One and Enbridge numbers, to be honest with you.  I have not looked at the small LDCs.  So I just can't confirm that those are the numbers that are in there.


But for Hydro One and Enbridge, I think that would be fair.  I think for Enbridge -- and again, if it is too much detail, please let me know, but I understand that there might also be a vintage issue, in terms of at what point in time the Enbridge calculated their numbers.  So they could have submitted a set of numbers calculated using actuarial assumptions, for example, from a year ago, and they may have chosen not to update their numbers because of their variance account.  So again, keeping that difference in mind.  Otherwise, I guess, yes.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I want to move on to another area.  And --


MS. HARE:  Would this be a good place to take a break then?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I should probably start it, and then maybe in five minutes take a break, if that is all right.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to page 9 of our materials.  And this is an interrogatory from School Energy Coalition, number 118, and we asked you for a 2011 review of your pension and benefit plan.  And you refused to provide it, saying it was not relevant.  And that review, of course, we have now seen is the Towers Watson review.


So the first thing I want to ask you is, why is that review not relevant to this application?


MS. EARLE:  I would suggest that by virtue of the fact that we have submitted it, it is relevant to the general knowledge.  However, it doesn't impact -- it bears no impact on the 2014 and 2015 revenue requirement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason is because you haven't yet implemented any of the things in the review, have you?


MS. EARLE:  I disagree with that.  There are some things that have been implemented for the management group population, where negotiations are not required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you have implemented things, then it does impact the revenue requirement, doesn't it?


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, thank you.  We have rolled them out for implementation effective January 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2016?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your 2011 report, your first implementations are 2016, right?


MS. EARLE:  To go back to some of the discussion we had yesterday, this was an exploratory and conceptual review that OPG did in consultation with Towers Watson, taking a look at some financial sustainability metrics of its pension and benefits plan costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You agreed with Mr. Millar yesterday that this paints a distressing picture, his exact words, which you agreed with, right?


MR. SMITH:  Actually, he withdrew the question, but, yes, he did say that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you agreed with it?


MS. EARLE:  It highlights the challenges for -- under the current cost structure of the plan, and given the current financial realities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also agreed, didn't you, that if this problem is not fixed it has the potential to -- and I quote again -- "devour your revenue".  Isn't that right?  You can check if you like.  It's page --


MS. EARLE:  So if revenue goes up, then that slightly offsets it.  But there are things that need to be fixed in order to improve our position, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  At page 10 of our materials you will see that we then, in the technical conference, said, well, if it's not relevant, because it has no impact -- which it turns out it does.  It doesn't have an impact because you haven't done anything yet -- then can you explain why.  What you did instead was you provided it.  Right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We actually filed a motion, but then you provided it voluntarily, right?  So we withdrew from the motion, right?


MS. EARLE:  I know that it's been provided.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am asking those questions was not just to be nasty, but because I would have thought -- and you saw the questions yesterday, and I am going to have a bunch of them today -- I would have thought that this should obviously be very interesting to the Board, and I don't know why you didn't want the Board to see it. 


Can you explain? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that I would agree that we didn't necessarily want the Board to see it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That would be a good time to take the break, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  So we will break until 3:20.


I do understand, Mr. DeRose, that you have to be finished today? 


MR. DeROSE:  Well, if it's possible, I would certainly appreciate it.  If I don't finish today, I think I will probably have Mr. Thompson do part of the cross, because he is going to be here on Thursday for Ms. McShane.


While it is not perhaps the greatest excuse on earth, I have a 12-year-old son who is graduating from grade 6, if you can believe that there are graduation parties for grade 6.  And at 8:30 in the morning, I have to be there clapping.  And I am looking forward to it. 


MR. SMITH:  We have already used that one in this case.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  But that excuse works.


[Laughter]


MR. DeROSE:  It is a great excuse.  So I am in the Panel's hands.  I mean, we certainly -- BLG will work around this.  If it's possible to get me up and down today, I would certainly appreciate it, but if it's not possible we will work around the Board's schedule.  We realize scheduling here is fluid and dynamic.


MS. HARE:  How long will you be, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I only have the Towers Watson report to do, but it is probably 30 minutes.


The first part, as you saw, took a lot longer than I expected.  But it is probably 30 minutes.  I think I can commit to that. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


So 20 after. 


--- Recess taken at 2:57 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Okay.  We're going to talk real fast so that everything gets done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will do my best, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Faster.  

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I should have seen that coming.


So we're looking at this report which was prepared by OPG with the assistance of Towers Watson, right?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is a presentation.  Was there an actual report itself?  Or is this it?


MS. EARLE:  This is it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There were other presentations, or was this the only one?


MS. EARLE:  This was an evolving process over a period of time.  This was the, I believe, the final presentation to the compensation and human resources committee of the board of directors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there had been previous reports to that committee as well in this similar format, right?


MS. EARLE:  I believe so.  I have not personally seen them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Would they tell us anything different than what we're seeing here?  Do they have any additional information that would be useful to us?


MS. EARLE:  I don't believe so.  This would be accumulation of any of the work that was done leading up to this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am going to ask you to do is just to undertake to confirm that, take a look at those reports and see that there is nothing relevant there that we don't already see in this report.  And if that is the case, then just tell us.  And if that is not the case, then please produce the stuff that is of value.


MS. HARE:  Is that clear enough, what you're asking Ms. Earle to look for, anything that is relevant and different?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The problem, Madam Chair, is that if the previous presentations are simply earlier versions, in effect, reporting on progress and, you know, here we are so far, then that's not really useful to the Board.


If on the other hand they dealt with different issues and rejected some things and things like that, then that might be relevant to the Board.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Is that clear, Ms. Earle?  Or not really?


MR. SMITH:  I think that is clear enough.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Good.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.9:  WITH RESPECT TO TOWERS WATSON REPORT, TO REVIEW RELATED MATERIAL AND TO PRODUCE MATERIAL RELEVANT AND DIFFERENT


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what I would like you to do is, if you go to page 12 of our materials, which is the second page of this report, and Mr. Millar has talked to you about this a little bit, and I am going to go into it in a little more detail, but I won't go over the same ground.


You see here that what you've done is you have compared OPG to metrics.  You see here, "metrics chosen to assess sustainability".  All right?  Those metrics were chosen by OPG, right?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not a set of metrics that are standard in the compensation industry or that were -- that Towers Watson said these are the ones you should use.  These are the ones that you decided would be appropriate for OPG.  Right?


MS. EARLE:  Again, Towers Watson was on the team that would have participated in coming up with these metrics, but ultimately OPG did choose these metrics.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it wasn't based on any type of benchmarking, right?


MS. EARLE:  I don't know that I can confirm that.  It certainly doesn't specify as it relates to benchmarking here, but I couldn't say for certain that they weren't picked based on our CFO's benchmarking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Are you the right person to be asking questions on this witness panel about this exhibit?


MS. EARLE:  I am.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.


MS. HARE:  Can I just confirm, were you on the team?


MS. EARLE:  I was not on the team.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is part of the evidence that is assigned to this panel, isn't it?


MS. EARLE:  It is part of the evidence, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Sorry.  Since I interrupted, was anybody on the team?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  None of us were on that --


MS. LADAK:  I participated a little bit on the team.  I had a role to play on the team for a period of time.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Kogan, you were on the team, weren't you?


MR. KOGAN:  No, I was not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, you weren't?  I thought you were.


All right.  Well, let's see how far I can go, Madam Chair, and, you know, we still have panel 7 to go, and...


MS. HARE:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I just want to look at the four metrics that you decided to use which are on page 14 of our materials, which is the fourth page of this presentation.


And the first is, you're comparing pension and benefits cash, and you recall the discussion, this would be the 950 over the test period, I guess, right?


MR. KOGAN:  I don't have direct knowledge of this report, but it sounds reasonable that would be the kind of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So pension and benefits cash should not exceed 10 percent of gross revenue, which you were already above at the time, right?  "Cost of P&B" -- I am just quoting -- "trending well above upper threshold"?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, I see that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were already well above 10 percent of gross revenue, right?


MR. KOGAN:  That's what it shows on page 16, I believe.
MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  And do you know where other comparators are relative to OPG -- Ontario Power Generation on this metric?


MS. EARLE:  I do not, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So would you accept subject to check that Enbridge, for example, is at three-and-a-half percent of gross revenue?


MS. EARLE:  I'd accept that subject to check.  I have no knowledge --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept that Hydro One is --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, sorry, how can we know that?  I mean, I understand my friend putting it to the witness and the witness saying "subject to check", but how can we know what Enbridge's numbers are?  My friend may know it.  But it hasn't been filed in evidence.  And I don't think we can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's exactly the purpose of asking the question.  If they know, then the Board knows.  If they don't know, then that is also instructive to the Board, in terms of how they manage their pension.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  But is it fair to ask them to agree with a number, subject to check, because that really means they would have to dig up the evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I am doing it that way, Madam Chair, is that they might not know a precise number but know that a number is in the right ballpark, in which case they can say, I'll accept it subject to check, which -- I wouldn't expect them to accept something subject to check if they have no idea whether it is right.


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, then I should repeat my answer, and I do not have any knowledge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, do you have any knowledge with respect to Hydro One?


MS. EARLE:  I do not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Okay.  So then the second metric is pension and benefits cash should not exceed 40 percent of operating cash flow before capital expenditures using a three-year average.


And again, this is a number that you've used internally, but this is not a -- this is not -- doesn't use any benchmarking, right?  You haven't looked at other utilities and said, what do other utilities do on this metric, right?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not aware of the answer to that.


MS. LADAK:  Given that Ms. Earle has said that our CFO and our treasurer were on this team, they were leading the team at the time, they would be familiar with the metrics and the ratios that we should be targeting.  So the people working on the project would have known, people who set the targets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if I asked you about the third and fourth metrics, you won't know those either?  You won't know how they were set or anything like that?


MS. EARLE:  No.


MS. LADAK:  The third one would have been again from the CFO and the treasurer, and I'm not sure about the fourth one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this not something that you look at in your department, how much your total pension and benefit expense is per active employee?


MR. KOGAN:  So I think that this is another instance where I would say we probably don't, and part of that is that is not necessarily a meaningful metric, as we discussed, given that there is a large retiree population.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I --


MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt?  Ms. Ladak, you said the CFO and the treasurer were on the -- were leading the team and they would know.  Are they testifying on panel 7, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  It was not our intention to have them testify.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  So saying the CFO and treasurer would know the answer doesn't help us.


MS. LADAK:  No.  All I was trying to establish was that people who are knowledgeable about pension funds are the ones that were setting these benchmarks, whether they can come speak to the panel -- they can't come speak to the panel, but they are knowledgeable about what is used in industry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I ask through you if OPG could advise us whether somebody will be on a subsequent panel that can speak to these metrics and how this assessment of the pension and the benefits was done?  Because I have a lot of detailed questions, which I was expecting to be panel 7, after high-level questions on this panel.


MR. SMITH:  We can certainly look at that.  There may be an individual who does overlap. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So then I am going to skip this and go to the next section, which is your response to the problem. 


And I look at page 20 of this presentation and this -- later on there is a discussion about interventions.  You do know about the interventions, right? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  But before you get to the interventions, the question is -- is asked on page 20:  What are the non-pension and benefit alternatives that you can use to address the financial shortfalls associated with this problem?  Right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's on that page.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to go through them.  They're pretty obvious.  Ask the shareholder for more money, and they say:  No, we can't do that.  Get external financing.  No, we can't really do that.  Improve the fund returns, things like that.


Implement work force reduction, now that would be in your bailiwick, right? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, in general, at a high level. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are, in fact, doing that? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what business transformation is all about, in essence? 


MS. EARLE:  Managing the business to work within the reduced headcount, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you see here, OEB rate increase, which -- interesting comment:

"OPG faces significant challenges in getting new OEB increases approved."


Do you think? 


But I take it -- and you sort of touched on this yesterday with Mr. Millar -- I take it this is actually what you came up with as your solution, isn't it? 


MS. EARLE:  No.  There were no solutions that were identified in this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the only thing you have done so far in response to this -- and we're going to go through the interventions, but the only thing you have done so far -- tell me whether this is right -- is ask for more money from the ratepayers; isn't that right? 


MS. EARLE:  No, I don't agree with that premise.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What have you implemented, other than that, that solves this problem? 


MS. EARLE:  So this report identifies that there are significant changes that are required in order to improve the sustainability of the plan.


And what we've done, as discussed a bit earlier, is some of the interventions that are listed within this review have been considered and rolled out to our management group population, because that is a group that we can make changes to without having to go through a negotiation process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just stop you right there.


You say that they have been rolled out to your management population, but I thought I heard you say they are going to be rolled out on January 1st, 2016, after the test period; isn't that right?


MS. EARLE:  I believe what I said is they were rolled out with an implementation date of January 1, '16.  So we have advised and announced to our management population that the changes will take effect on January 1, 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you make that announcement?  Just roughly? 


MS. EARLE:  Earlier this year.  I am forgetting what month it was, but earlier this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, say, two years, roughly? 


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, from --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You gave them about two years' warning that you're going to do it? 


MS. EARLE:  Roughly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what else have you implemented?


You made an announcement.  I get that.  Okay.  What else have you done?


MS. EARLE:  Well, as you mentioned, we're continuing with our workforce reductions, which will also reduce the cost of the plan, but we need to make changes to, ultimately, the plan, in order to actually see meaningful savings.  And that's what we are working towards. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I want to go to page 22.  And this is -- this is the sort of general slide on interventions.  And I am going to get to the detailed interventions in a minute, but I just want to talk in general about the first three on here, items 1, 2 and 3 on page 22.


These are the ones that really have an impact, right?  1, 2 and 3?


MS. EARLE:  Based on the initial analysis, yes.  Again, this was more qualitative versus quantitative, but yes, these top three are seen to have the highest potential benefit. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they all have big Ns beside them, which I actually thought meant no but it means negotiation required, right? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The first chance you had to negotiate this, you asked for a committee and you didn't get it.  You didn't even ask for these, right?  You asked for a committee? 


MS. EARLE:  So this -– you've read this report, which also points out the fact that even if all of these interventions were implemented, we wouldn't actually see the significant changes to the costs of the plan.


So if something bigger than any one of these individual interventions is required, and as a result we went to the unions -- which we need to get on board in order to effect any of these changes, to make meaningful savings -- we asked them for -- yes, to join us in a sustainability review panel, to look at exactly this issue.


And yes, as you pointed out, they declined to participate in that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is what I don't understand.  You had an urgent problem.  Your pension plan and maybe the company is going to go bankrupt again.  And so what you did you asked your union to have a committee with you to talk about it, and they refused to talk about it.


Why is that?  Like, you understand that from outside the organization, that seems a little bit odd? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So I won't speak on behalf of the PWU, but I can speak to the challenges that are faced across the table in collective bargaining, and which is these are provisions that we've negotiated.  We feel they're an important part of compensation and we're not prepared to change them. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I understand that.  And I guess I understand why it might be difficult for you to get them to go from an 82 factor to a 90 factor, which I am going to talk about in a second. 


I can see there might be resistance.  But what I do not understand is why they would say:  We won't even talk about it with you.  Big problem.  Yeah, fine.  Not our problem.  We're not even going to talk about it with you.


That's what they said, right? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to just ask about this 82, 84 points rule to 55 and 90.  You have people in your organization that are on a pension that has an 82 factor, right? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And an 82 factor means age plus years of service equals 82, you can retire on full pension?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you start at 20, you can retire at 51?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is common in the Ontario public service, the broader public service, to have a 90 factor, right?  That is the most common factor right now? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that that is the case, but... that it is most common to have a 90 factor.  I absolutely know that there are retirement plans with a 90 factor. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Surely this would be something that OPG would have to know if you're going to negotiate with your union and if you're going to plan for the future of your pension plan.


Wouldn't you have to know that, what's the market like? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I know there's variations in lots of plans.


These are benefits that the union managed to negotiate, in terms of reducing the factors over time. 


And so the inverse of that is true.  You know, we would have to -- we would have to negotiate those factors to change them upwards.


And associated with that is the complications of collective bargaining and the dynamics of collective bargaining. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I absolutely understand that, sir, but I guess what I was trying to get at is:  Don't you need to at least have the information to start with? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you don't even know that the most common factor is a 90 factor?


I don't understand why you wouldn't know that off the top of your head.  I know it.  I'm not even in pensions.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Well, I know there are other plans that have rules of 30 and out; police plans, for instance. 


So I generally know that there are plans that have age and service factors.  There are others that have absolute service factors.  I have a general awareness of that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I'm more familiar with the Ontario Hydro successor company factors and their requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are they all 82 factors?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I believe for the Power Workers they're all 82 factors.  I understand that the one change that was made was with the Society, in 2005 or 2006, which was not for the existing work force, but subsequent new hires, which was the introduction of a form of defined contribution plan, and I think people may be familiar with the genesis of that issue.  That came after a 19- or a 20-week strike in the summer of 2005, I believe it was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that -- it says here an 84 factor.  Is that where the 84 factor comes in?  The Society?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  Sorry.  The Society -- the Society also has an 82 factor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you could go to page 28.  This is my last area of questions.  And I am only going to go over this briefly, because I actually have an undertaking I want you to provide.  But I just want to briefly talk about some of these interventions and what they are and what their value is.


And I am going to skip over number 1, which is a defined benefit, defined contribution combo plan, right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's -- for example, Enbridge has that, and some other utilities have that, right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, other organizations have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that is not going to fly with your represented workers, is it?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's something that we attempted in the past and did not fly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then 2(b) is "negotiate one-to-one contribution".  Now, one-to-one contribution means that the current service cash component from the company and from the employees is the same each year, right?


MS. EARLE:  Correct, that's my understanding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the cash component of current service; is that right?  I am looking at Mr. Kogan because I was wrong last time I said this.


MR. KOGAN:  Yes.  These are all now the cash numbers, so, yes, correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one-to-one is the standard now -- for example, OMERS is one-to-one, right?  Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System?


MS. EARLE:  I believe that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And most of the other utilities in the province have a one-to-one contribution; is that right?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know that.  Okay.


And do you know what the value of that would be, in terms of the reduction in the annual cost to OPG, if you had a one-to-one contribution?  Just by itself?

MR. KOGAN:  A useful reference would be Staff Interrogatory 121, which is Exhibit L, tab 6.8, schedule 1, Staff 121.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KOGAN:  So I think, as it states in part (c), that obviously, you know, subject to legal considerations and collective bargaining requirements, if you did theoretically do the math that works out to about $60 million a year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I saw that, and I don't know how you get to that.  The reason I don't know how you get to that is because if you're now at either three-to-one or five-to-one, depending on who you listen to -- this Towers Watson report, by the way, on the previous page says you're already at five times employee contributions.


But whether you are at three-to-one or five-to-one, if the employees are contributing 70 million, the adjustment to make it one-to-one couldn't mathematically be 60 million.  Not possible.


MR. KOGAN:  So I actually did the rough math myself in my head, and a couple of things.  I think 70 million is a company-wide number, and very, very high level, I'm thinking maybe the current service costs that the company is putting in is maybe 200-plus million.  I want to say 250, but this is a very sort of broad, broad range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KOGAN:  And if I take maybe the regulated portion of that, which may be 80 percent, in my head I was at a very, very high level able to sort of reconcile it that way.  Take 70, plus the 60, so maybe 130.  If you're 250, take 80 percent, 200, less...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, 200 plus 70 is 270 is 135?  So if you go from 200 down to 135 -- that's what you're saying, right, is that the amount that you're contributing -- you're actually contributing for current service is only 200 a year.  Right?


MR. KOGAN:  Very, very roughly, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would go down to 135, and that would be roughly 60, right?


MR. KOGAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I see.


MS. HARE:  Would you like to take this as an undertaking to make sure that you've got the right number?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am actually going to ask for an omnibus undertaking on a bunch of these, if you would like to wait for two minutes.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  I just remember my witness training always was never do math on the stand.  

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kogan is pretty good at math.


MS. HARE:  Still.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just want to -- I don't want to use up too much more time, but I do want to ask a couple of these before I get to my undertaking.  High five versus high three means right now you have -- your highest three years is the basis of your pension, right?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  High five would be lower, because obviously the fourth highest and the fifth highest would be lower than the average of the top three, right?


MS. EARLE:  Potentially.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it has to be.  It is math.  Right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that would have a small impact, but still something over time over all your employees it is not nothing, right?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.  It is not nothing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Okay.  Then we talked about rule of 90 and age 55; that is, 90 factor, right?  90 factor is the correct terminology, right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you have already explained that.  Then you have some things like indexing.  What is the indexing in your plans?


MS. EARLE:  Currently 100 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  100 percent of CPI?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And are you the only plan in the Ontario public sector that has 100 percent of CPI right now?


MS. EARLE:  I don't know the answer to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know of any others?


MS. EARLE:  Off the top of my head, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you have -- what's a bridge factor?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It is an amount that -- it's an amount that is paid, in terms of providing a higher pension before somebody is entitled to old-age security and age 65, and once those Old Age Security and -- Old Age Security and Canadian Pension Plan, sorry, I misspoke, the Canadian Pension Plan kick in, the pension is accordingly reduced.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if somebody retires on their 82 factor at age 51, they don't get their -- what is it, 1,200 a month or something from Canada Pension Plan and Old Age Security, so you give them an extra 1,200 a month for the 14 years until they qualify.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And then their pension is correspondingly reduced once those amounts kick in.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the -- right now eligibility to join is immediate?  Or is there a waiting period?


MS. EARLE:  It is immediate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Immediate.  And are you the only public sector pension in Ontario that has immediate eligibility for pension?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what's the commuted value option?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  An option available to employees that they can take the value of their pension as a lump sum, as opposed to a steady payment, and that's an option which I believe is permissible under the Pension Benefits Act.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is transferred into some other registered plan?  Or do they just get a cheque?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think it depends on when the amount is taken.  I think if it's before you are eligible to retire, like if somebody quits, for instance, and they want to take that money out of the plan, instead of deferring it until they eventually reach a retirement factor, they are limited to a transfer into a long-term retirement account, a specific account that is designed for this.  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  A locked-in registered retirement savings plan, or an alternative pension plan?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  What I would like you to undertake to do, if you could, is -- I will explain why it is, if it's not obvious in a second -- is for the items from 2A to 8 on this list, because 1 clearly is not something that can be valued and neither is 9, but if you go from 2A to 8, and can you just provide as good an estimate as you can of the annual dollar value of that, in terms of reducing your $1,294,000,000 in cost?  So how much would each of these, by themselves, reduce your costs.


I understand there would be interactions between them; I think we can work that out later.  But I just want to know the dollar value.


Because, for example, if going to rule of 90 is $500 million a year in savings, then we don't need to talk about most of the other stuff.  But if it is only $1.95, then the other ones become more important.


So can you provide us with a table that shows us what those values -- that whose impacts are.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, let me say this, two responses.


The first is this will be a lot of work, and it may be a lot of work that requires actuarial assistance.


The second is I don't accept the relevance of it, given that, in my submission, it is largely an academic exercise, given the reality of collective bargaining.


And so while I appreciate my friend's request, the reality is, as the evidence has unfolded, is different, that these have to be negotiated items and they're not items that the unions are interested in negotiating.


And so while there is lots of work that could be done and obviously would be done, I seriously question the relevance of the request, particularly having regard to the framework that is set out with respect to committed costs in the Court of Appeals decision.


So I have a concern about it.


MS. HARE:  I do understand this would be a lot of work, but was this not work already done?  How else would they have been able to put the dots on this chart, indicating benefit high or low, without having some idea of the numbers?


MR. SMITH:  Well, as I understood the evidence from earlier -- and obviously we would have to check if we're asked to do the undertaking, but it was qualitative and not broken down by dollar, and certainly would not have been broken down, as my friend had asked the earlier -- or we were referred to the earlier interrogatory, being Board Staff 121, which was really:  What are the savings during the test period?


And that is, of course, what my friend could only be interested in.  And that information has certainly not been prepared, and so that would be something that would have to be new.


MS. LONG:  Are you saying, Mr. Smith, based on this presentation to this subset committee, that this costing has never been done?  It hasn't been requested and done?


MR. SMITH:  All I'm reflecting is that -- I don't know the answer to that.  All I'm reflecting is that what the evidence was earlier, which was that it was qualitative.


So I don't know the level of detail that was done with respect to the costing, but you wouldn't have to know the precise dollars and cents to put it on that matrix.


And more to the point, you definitely wouldn't have to know the 2014-2015 numbers, which is what is going to have to happen, assuming the information is relevant at all.


And in my submission, it isn't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair?


MS. HARE:  Yes, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  My friend -- I want to make two comments.


The first is my friend says that this is not relevant, because he has a view that the unions are big, bad unions and they can't do anything about changing anything, and so this Board isn't allowed to look at what the reasonable levels of costs are.


We have a different view.


I don't want to be in a position where the Board could decide, yes, the reasonable level of costs is relevant, but we don't know what it is because we acceded to Mr. Smith and we wouldn't get the information.  So that is the first thing.


In argument, he can well make that argument, that you can't look at the reasonable level of costs, but as of right now, you should at least gather the information.  That is number one.


Number two, I should point out that we and other intervenors have been chasing up this information since the interrogatories in the technical conference.  It is only because we got this, finally got this presentation in JT2.12 that we finally realized that they did actually consider these individual things as solutions to a big problem.


And so that's why this is the first time we can ask for this.  It is our first opportunity, even though we have been trying to chase it up throughout the piece.


Those are our submissions.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I will only say this in response, and we shouldn't be playing ping-pong.


It is not my view.  It is the decision of the Court of Appeal.  I am not making it up.  It is what the law is with respect to these matters.


And yes, we can have a debate in the decision, but I think it shouldn't be that it is my view as to what the law is.  I mean, it is the decision of the court.


And the Supreme Court might decide ultimately differently, but for sitting here today, that is what it is.


MS. HARE: Well, this is --


MR. MILLAR:  I disagree with that, by the way.  There is a dispute over what that case says, I think, but I agree with Mr. Smith we don't want ping-pong.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Well, should we huddle?


[Laughter]


[Board Panel confers]


MS. HARE:  The Panel does think that these numbers are relevant.  They don't have to be for '14 and '15.  We note the study was done using 2011 numbers.


We do think that the data must have been collected in order to put the dots in some order from high to low.  There must have been some quantification, and we would like to see what was done.


I think, Mr. Smith, you said about precise numbers.  I don't think we're exactly looking at precise numbers, but give us what you've got.


MR. SMITH:  Certainly.  So we will take a look and we will see what was done and we will produce that.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.10:  TO PROVIDE BEST ESTIMATES FOR ITEMS 2A TO 8 OF THE ANNUAL DOLLAR VALUE OF EACH, IN TERMS OF REDUCING THE $1,294,000,000 IN COST.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, that was my last question, but can I just ask that we have that undertaking response by next week some time, so we have it available for panel 7?


MR. SMITH:  We will certainly start on it right away.  I have no idea what is involved.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are our questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Mr. DeRose? 


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  And we are prepared to sit a little bit past 4:30, so quarter to 5:00.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Why don't we start and we'll see how it goes?  And I'll perhaps at 4:30 give you an update, and -- well, I greatly appreciate it. 
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


Panel, my name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of -- I act as counsel for CME.  The cross today is on behalf of both CCC and CME.  Even though Julie Girvan is not here, just for the benefit of the panel, she has had input into the cross-examination, and it is on behalf of both intervenors.


I have a compendium that we should probably mark.  I believe you should have copies of it.  It will say "compendium for OPG witness panel 5".


MR. MILLAR:  K9.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  CME CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 5.


MR. DeROSE:  And there is nothing in there that isn't already on the record, but just to speed things up.


For the witness panel, do you all have a copy of the compendium?  Mr. Kogan, you don't need a copy of the compendium.  I am going to desperately try and avoid questions for you.


MR. SMITH:  I am going to give him a compendium. 


[Laughter]


MR. DeROSE:  I just want to make sure, panel, you do have it?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MS. EARLE:  Yes, we do.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  And I would like to start by -- and Mr. Millar did cover this, but just sort of as a starting spot, in the last Board decision the Board directed you to conduct an independent compensation study to be filed in this application.


So to confirm, that is the Aon Hewitt study; is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And as part of that direction that the Board gave you, the Board said that the study should cover a -- and this is their quote -- "a significant proportion of OPG's positions".


And I would like to sort of explore that with you a little bit and just understand how many of the positions were covered by the Aon Hewitt report which is at tab 5 of the compendium.


Could I just have you turn that up.  Now, first of all, before we get too far into it, Aon Hewitt provides both a target total cash and base salary results.  Is that right?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And can you just at a high-level describe or explain to the Panel what the difference of benchmarking base salary is to total cash compensation?


MS. EARLE:  Total cash compensation includes short-term incentive versus total base salary is, as it states, base salary.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And could I have you turn to page 18 of the Aon Hewitt report.  That is where I would like to start.  And first of all, at a higher level, Aon Hewitt benchmarked to three groups, correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And within each of the three groups they benchmarked PWU, Society, and management.  Correct?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And on page 18 you will see where -- under the -- it will say "number OPG incumbents".  Do you see that?


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. DeROSE:  Now, is that at an FTE, or is that a head count?  What does "OPG incumbents" refer to?


MS. EARLE:  That would be head count.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at the time that Aon Hewitt would have been doing their analysis, what would the total head count for PWU have been?  I don't need it to the number, but, I mean, is it approximately 6,800?


MS. EARLE:  I'd have to check that.  Again, it would have been -- this review was done initially in 2011, so it would be in comparison to the PWU 2011 head count.  I would rather not guess what it is when we can probably pull it up fairly readily.


MR. DeROSE:  I would be fine with that, if we could have an undertaking.  What I would like is the head count at the time of the Aon Hewitt benchmarking for PWU, for Society, and for management, just so that we understand what the population was that Aon Hewitt was looking at at the time, or what they potentially could have looked at.  I am going to run through the numbers in a moment.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I don't know if this assists, but I believe this information is provided in JT2.33.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And that was part of the Staff compendium at page 58, if that helps.  But I think all that information is there, including for 2011.


MR. DeROSE:  If we can just pull that up for...


--- Mr. Rubenstein passes documents to Mr. DeRose.


MS. LADAK:  The Aon Hewitt study is for the entire company.  I am not sure if the data you are referring to -- it might just be for regulated operations.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that's right.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, if I just take a step back then, when it says "OPG incumbents", for instance, under "administration", 498, that could include both regulated and unregulated?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if I add up the 498.34, the 75, if I run down that column, I come up with 4,449 PWU incumbents that Aon Hewitt looked at.  Subject to check, can we agree on that?


MS. EARLE:  Agreed.


MR. DeROSE:  And what I would like to know is that -- and if it appears that JT2.33 is only the regulated piece, I would like to know, was it, for instance, 6,800 or 7,000 at the time?  How many were you looking at?  What is the portion of it?


MS. LADAK:  Just to confirm, JT2.33 is just the regulated piece.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, just to get an apples-to-apples, perhaps we could have an undertaking so that the Board knows, out of the 4,449 PWU that group one was looked at, what is the portion that that represents.


MS. EARLE:  Sure.  I actually happen to have the year-end 2011 head count here.


MR. DeROSE:  Perfect.


MS. EARLE:  So for regular PWU employees, year-end 2011 would have been 6,572.  Again, that is on an OPG-wide basis.


MR. DeROSE:  And that would be an apples-to-apples comparison to the 4,449?  We're talking about the same pool of employees.


MS. EARLE:  The regular employees, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And what about for the Society?


MS. EARLE:  Year-end 2011 Society head count was 3,597.


MR. DeROSE:  And what about for management?


MS. EARLE:  1,226.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so just so that we understand, for PWU in group 1 there are approximately just over 2,000 PWU employees that are not included in this benchmarking study.  Is that fair?


MS. EARLE:  That's fair.  It was a job matching, as opposed to employee matching, but, yes, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Did OPG take any other steps or did you look at any other market comparables to try and assess the reasonableness of the compensation for the 2,000 that were not looked at?


MS. EARLE:  So we would propose -- and I believe that the survey would also support the fact that this is a representative sample of the organization and therefore relevant in terms of its statistical relevance.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it would be your position that if, for instance -- and we will just take this example -- group 1 has you 20.5 percent over the 50th percentile, that would be representative for all 6,572 employees, PWU...


MS. EARLE:  It covers a significant portion of our PWU population, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I take it you would say the same thing for the Society and for management?


MS. EARLE:  Given that the survey target was to have 50 percent of the total OPG population covered and that this covers 54.3 percent, yes, we --


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, are you able to -- Ms. Earle, are you able to set out for the Board, if you were to bring all of the positions, so the PWU, the Society, and the management positions to the 50th percentile, how much money would have to be removed from payroll?  Are you able to quantify what it would cost you to bring it to the 50th percentile?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that we could do that.  It would certainly be a significant -- because this was done on individual incumbent salaries, for only a proportion of the staff, as we have discussed.  But because it is based on individual incumbent data, it would require looking at every single individual in the organization, and then further breaking that out into the regulated piece.


And I am not sure that, based on the survey design in terms of one job may be also in regulated business but not in the regulated business...


MR. DeROSE:  So the Aon Hewitt benchmarking study that the Board directed you to doesn't allow you to actually tell the Board how much you are over or under on costs at any -- at either the 75th percentile or 50th percentile? 


MS. EARLE:  Well, the report itself doesn't do that.  We would have to do some further analysis.


MR. DeROSE:  And you have never done that? 


MS. EARLE:  No.  We have not done that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I take you to tab 2 of the compendium?  This is an excerpt from the last decision, and if I could take you to page 81 -- actually, I will start you at page 80, if you don't mind.  Do you have that? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  Thank you. 


MR. DeROSE:  And you talked about this with Mr. Millar yesterday.  At the bottom, you will see that it refers to the Towers Perrin conducting a survey, which compares compensation data amongst a variety of employers across Canada; do you recall that? 


MS. EARLE:  I see that here in your reference.


MR. DeROSE:  If you turn the page, you will see right at the top it says:

"OPG used the data from the survey to prepare a chart comparing OPG's salary levels with those of other organizations in the survey."


MS. EARLE:  I see that, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And I believe you mentioned in your conversation with Mr. Millar yesterday that, while you weren't involved with it, you're aware that OPG took the data from Towers Perrin and provided -- put together a chart on the base salary data; is that right?  We can agree on that? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then if you go to the second paragraph, starting the second sentence, you will see:

"OPG advised that the 30 positions in the survey accounted for 2,800 for OPG employees.  In order to bring the set of positions to the 75th percentile, 16 million would have to be removed from payroll, and in order to bring the positions to the 50th percentile, 37.7 million would have to be removed from payroll." 


Can you explain to the Board why OPG was able to quantify bringing the positions from the Towers Perrin survey to the 50th percentile, but you can't do it with Aon Hewitt?


MS. EARLE:  The two data points are different.  I believe that the Towers Perrin information actually showed job rates for positions, whereas the Aon Hewitt data, as presented, doesn't provide the individual salary rates.  It reported on percentage from the 50th percentile.


So the data was available and presented differently in the Towers Perrin report. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And at page 73 of yesterday's transcript -- I don't think you need to turn it up -- Mr. Millar asked if you still received the data from Towers Perrin, and you said you thought you did.

MS. EARLE:  I believe we do participate in the power services survey.


MR. DeROSE:  And if you participate in the power services survey, would you not be provided with data on the various percentiles from Towers Perrin that would show where you stand?


MS. EARLE:  Again, it wouldn't -- it would show where the other organizations stand.


And the information that was provided in the previous hearing was based on OPG doing an internal review of its positions against the ones posted in the Towers Perrin report, so different data than was provided for in the Aon Hewitt survey. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I take it that there is no evidence on the record that would allow this Panel -- if this Panel found that you should be at the 50th percentile, for instance, there is no evidence that would allow the Board to know -- or how to quantify moving you from where you currently stand to the 50th percentile?  There is nothing that you can provide the Board to assist them with that? 


MS. EARLE:  I don't believe so. 


MR. DeROSE:  Can you tell us why that was something that you didn't feel was relevant? 


MR. SMITH:  Well, this issue was dealt with squarely, as you will know, Mr. DeRose, by the Court of Appeal.  This was the very issue that was in dispute.


And the fact that OPG may benchmark at the 10th, the 25th, the 50th or the 90th percentile, of course, does not determine whether or not the costs are committed or prudently incurred as reflected during the test period. 


And as you will also know, this was an interrogatory that was asked well in advance of the last case.  Nobody asked an interrogatory in relation to this.  And for that reason, I don't think it is actually a relevant line of inquiry.


MS. HARE:  Well, I will jump in and say I strongly disagree.  The decision last time made it very clear that the Board finds that the compensation benchmark should be generally set at the 50th percentile, so I find it rather astounding that you wouldn't have figured out what the difference in compensation would be, if it is at the 50th percentile.


That is what the decision said last time.


MR. SMITH:  I agree with that, Madam Chair, but the Court of Appeal ultimately disagreed. 


MS. HARE:  Well, that case isn't over.  I think it is fair to answer Mr. DeRose's question as to what the difference would be in compensation. 


MR. SMITH:  Well, if the request is that we do it, we will see what we can do.  Certainly. 


MS. HARE:  Thank you. 


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  If I could have that undertaking? 


MR. MILLAR:  J9.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.11:  to provide evidence that would allow the Board to know or quantify moving OPG from where it currently stands to the 50th percentile

MR. DeROSE:  Just in terms of that undertaking, Ms. Earle, you -- as we talked about, Aon Hewitt did both a target total cash benchmarking and a base salary result benchmarking.


In fulfilling the undertaking that Chairperson Hare has just set out, would -- is that something that has to be -- does that amount have to be calculated for each of the groups for each of those two benchmarkings?  Or is it possible just to take these summaries, so there is a target total cash summary and there is a base salary summary?


My question is to you, because they change by a percentage or two depending on which group you are looking at.  Would that be material and perhaps -- well, do you think it would be material?  Or do you know? 


MS. EARLE:  I would have to take a closer look and -- as part of the undertaking, in terms of determining what is the appropriate data to look at.  Off the top of my head, I don't know.


MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  Perhaps if we could just amend the undertaking to say if there would be a material difference in the calculation between the total -- the target total cash benchmarking and the base salary benchmarking, if they could set out the two numbers.


If it is not material, then it doesn't matter. 


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I turn you to tab 1?


Panel, my colleague Ms. Blanchard asked your nuclear panel a number of questions about the Goodnight Consulting benchmarking report.  And a number of her questions were passed on to you by your previous witnesses.


So I would like to take you over a couple of them.  First of all, if you can turn to page 112. 


Starting at line 12, you will see that Ms. Blanchard says:

"You mentioned that the corporate groups do benchmarking all the time.  And is that information available?"


Ms. Carmichael said:

"You'd have to ask the corporate support group panel tomorrow, but I do believe that they had some benchmarking that they may have filed.  I am not sure.  Do we know?"  

And Mr. Keizer said:

"We are not aware of filing any staffing information, but this may be a question more appropriately put to the group tomorrow."


Other than the Aon Hewitt report, have you conducted other benchmarking?


MS. LADAK:  We filed the benchmarking that was available.  So we filed benchmarking for our IT group.  That is in the evidence for our HR group, as well as the finance group.  They're not staffing studies.  They're benchmarking with respect to costs and -- costs and head count, both.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And all of the benchmarking that you have undertaken, you have filed; is that correct?


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, the other thing that arose during the nuclear panel was that approximately 3,000 of the FTEs on the nuclear benchmarking were excluded from the benchmarking.


And there was a question of whether those FTEs that were excluded from the Goodnight Consulting benchmarking study would have been included in the Aon Hewitt benchmarking study.


Do you have any information about that?  Do you know if that is the case?


MS. EARLE:  The Aon Hewitt study was done entirely independently of the Goodnight study.  I would assume that some of the positions would have been captured, but I cannot say with 100 percent certainty.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MS. EARLE:  But given the large number of the employee population, I would again assume that some of those positions would be captured, but they were entirely independent reports, so I can't confirm.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much.


Page 119 of the transcript.  This is actually a quote from your counsel Mr. Keizer.  He is referring to JT2.14, and he says:

"I do note that there are some benchmarking studies in there that seem to be corporate-related, so it's our -- my understanding that this is a complete list, but we will clarify and ask the next panel -- that is you -- to be able to clarify as to whether there are specific studies comparable to these kinds of studies done for the period 2010 to 2013, like in this undertaking, that would have somehow been done on a corporate departmental area basis."


I guess let me start by this.  Was that exchange brought to your attention?  And have you looked at that before coming here today?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, it was brought to my attention, and we have -- as I said, we filed the benchmarking that was available, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


Now, the other question is this.  And if you turn to page 122, right at the top you will see the question is:

"Has that been reviewed, in terms of cost/benefit analysis, the, you know, the 58 FTEs relative to changing the work week from 35 to 40?"


So just to back this up and give you some context, there was some discussion about the 35- versus 40-hour work week, and at least on the nuclear side it was identified that that would represent approximately 58 FTEs.


Then you will see the next question or the answer to that is:

"I really don't think that is something that we should be discussing.  I think that's something you should talk with the compensation panel about."


So the first question is, if you move from a 35- to -- first of all, not all of your employees are on a 35-hour work week.  Correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Some are on a 40-hour work week and some are on a 35-hour work week?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  If you were to move from a 35-to a 40-hour work week, would the result be a reduction in 58 FTEs, or would it be something -- the 58 FTEs was given in the context of the nuclear business.  Would it be 58 or would it be something higher than 58 over the entire regulated business?


MS. EARLE:  I'm not sure I have that number.  I know there was also an interrogatory that dealt with the 35-hour versus 40-hour worker and whether or not we had considered that.


MR. DeROSE:  I don't believe that that interrogatory gave a FTE number.


MS. EARLE:  We're just going to pull up the interrogatory.  Just give us a moment.  Thank you.


MR. DeROSE:  Sure.  I think I have about ten minutes left, if that works.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.


MR. DeROSE:  If it helps, I believe it may be Board Staff Interrogatory 104 that you are looking for.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  The response that was given at the time I think is consistent with your question now.  When this has been considered in the past, that the 35-hour work week was appropriate for the classifications that were involved, and simply adding additional hours, which would involve additional pay, was not justified when this has -- when this has been considered.


MR. DeROSE:  I appreciate that that is the conclusion you came to.  What I would like to know is that if you did move from a 35- to 40-hour work week, how many FTEs would be reduced?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  In circumstances where a 35-hour work week is appropriate and necessary to get the work done, I am not sure that there is anything gained by adding the additional hours.


MR. DeROSE:  So does that mean you can't calculate it?  That if you simply took those employees that are currently working a 35-hour work week and had them work a 40-hour work week you couldn't tell us how many FTEs that would reduce?  Is that not math?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We could calculate it.  It is a question of the relevance of doing the calculation.  I mean, we have looked at the makeup of these jobs, and we've determined in the circumstances that 35 hours is an appropriate amount of time to have the work done.


MR. DeROSE:  I think my questions -- I think we may be passing in the night.  I am not arguing with you about your assessment of 35 or 40 hours.  I am simply saying, what would moving to 40 hours -- what would the consequences be on an FTE basis -- if I take you to page 121 of the transcript you will see that there is a reference there to the Goodnight report with an upward adjustment of 58 FTEs because of it.  So Goodnight adjusted the benchmarking by 58 employees, attributing it to the 35-hour work week.


My question is, if you move to the 35-hour work week across the Board, would it be -- would it still be 58 FTEs as the adjustment?  Or would it be something higher because you would be including non-nuclear staff in that?  Is that something -- perhaps we could just ask for an undertaking.  Could you calculate what the reduction of FTEs would be if you moved from a 35- to a 40-hour work week?


MS. EARLE:  And the additional costs associated with that reduction?


MR. DeROSE:  Yes, yes.


MS. EARLE:  So the reduction of head count and the corresponding costs associated with moving from --


MR. DeROSE:  That would be fine.


MS. EARLE:  -- for the entire -- sorry, for the entire regulated, or is this specific to nuclear?  This was --


MR. DeROSE:  No.  I would like it for all of the regulated, please.  Do you have regulated employees that have 35-hour work weeks who are not in the nuclear business?
MS. EARLE:  Yes, we do.


MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Is that something that you can calculate?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.12. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J9.12:  TO CALCULATE THE REDUCTION TO FTES IF OPG MOVED FROM A 35- TO A 40-HOUR WORK WEEK.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  I have to admit I thought that one was going to be a quick snapper.


The final point that I would like to ask you about is this.  You have been brought to the memorandum of agreement, I know, a couple of times.  Just for reference, it is at tab 4 of the compendium. 


And in two places there is a reference to OPG being benchmarked against the top quartile.  So both in the context of nuclear generation and also in the context of performance targets, being benchmarked against the performance of top quartile of electricity-generating companies in North America.


In light of the memorandum of understanding making reference to benchmarking to the top quartile, why did you not ask Aon Hewitt to also benchmark you to the top quartile?


MR. SMITH:  With respect, I think it is worthwhile going to the memorandum of agreement and a particular clause, because the clause does not talk about staffing levels, but to financial metrics.


MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  We can go to it.  If you go to tab 4, under (a), "Mandate," we will go to the first spot, number 3.  You will see the second sentence:

"OPG will benchmark its performance in these areas against CANDU nuclear plants worldwide, as well as against the top quartile of private and publicly-owned nuclear electricity generators in North America." 


And then if you turn the page to page 2, under sub (c) you will see starting in the third sentence:

"These performance targets will be benchmarked against performance of the top quartile of electricity-generating companies in North America." 


So first of all, I will take a step back.  Would you agree with me that your staffing compensation represents a very large portion of OPG's costs? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And can you explain to the Board why Aon Hewitt was not directed to also benchmark you to the top quartile? 


MS. EARLE:  So the Aon Hewitt study was based on, as we've discussed, a directive from the Ontario Energy Board describing what we were to benchmark against, which was compensation, OPG compensation, a more comprehensive compensation survey to the 50th percentile.


There was a terms of reference, which is in the prefiled evidence, and that terms of reference was executed and we followed that with the Aon Hewitt survey. 


MR. DeROSE:  Can you take us to the Board decision where the Board directed you to undertake the compensation study to the 50th percentile?  Because -- actually I will, just to save time, I will take you -- if you turn to page 88 of tab 2, I will take you to the paragraph that the Board directs you to undertake the compensation study. 


MR. SMITH:  It may be useful to start at page 85. 


MR. DeROSE:  That's fine.  So if we look at the second sentence of the second –- or first sentence of the second paragraph, you will see:

"As to the compensation, the Board finds that the compensation benchmark should generally be set at the 50th percentile."


Is the Board saying there that benchmarking should only be done to the 50th percentile? 


MS. EARLE:  No. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you still chose to benchmark to the 75th percentile; correct?  In the Aon Hewitt? 


MS. EARLE:  That information was provided in the report, yes. 


MR. DeROSE:  And so the Board -- in fact, in the next paragraph, still on page 85, that my friend Mr. Smith pointed out:

"The evidence provided does not substantiate the assertion that the positions selected by OPG are sufficiently different to warrant the use of the 75th percentile."


So the Board, in the previous decision, actually told you that the 75th percentile was not warranted; is that fair? 


MS. EARLE:  That was the Board's position, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Then if I take you to page 88, you will see the first full paragraph that starts:

"Lastly, the Board directs OPG to conduct an independent compensation study to be filed with the next application."


It doesn't say anything about the 50th percentile.  Granted, I will -- I mean, let's be clear.  The Board in this decision -- in that decision found it was appropriate to set your compensation based on the 50th percentile.


But I guess my question is:  You thought that the 75th percentile, the lowest quartile, was relevant for Aon Hewitt; you thought the 50th percentile was relevant for Aon Hewitt.  Why would you not have also got the top quartile?  Was it a conscious decision, or did you just simply not think that it was relevant? 


MS. EARLE:  We believed that we were executing what the Board was looking for with the 50th percentile.


The 75th percentile, as it was provided for, as there was some limited data provided for that in the last hearing, it was included in this report.


But given the discussion around the 50th percentile, that was what we thought the Board was looking for, and that certainly wasn't disputed -- we didn't have any other information contrary to that. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you were not told by Aon Hewitt that they were not capable of benchmarking to the 25th percentile? 


MS. EARLE:  No.  We asked for -- I believe we were looking for the market median.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  And do you know -- based on the Aon Hewitt report, are you able to say whether, in any category, you would have been in the top quartile?  Or do you just -- you simply don't know? 


MS. EARLE:  I have no idea.


MR. DeROSE:  And you have already said that you still get the Towers Perrin -– I guess it's now called Towers Watson -- market study?


MS. EARLE:  We participate in that group. 


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  So when you participate in the group, you do get some of the data; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  The data is made available to us, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you or your group look at that, to say:  How are we doing compared to the -- compared to last year?  Compared to the year before?  Do you use that data for anything internally?


MS. EARLE:  Given the Aon Hewitt survey, we were using that information. 


MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, so because you retained Aon Hewitt you just ignored the Towers Watson data? 


MS. EARLE:  The Aon Hewitt survey is a custom survey specific to OPG and its position.  So that would have been, in our eyes, more relevant, and also -- yes.  So, sorry, we would have relied on the Aon Hewitt. 


MR. DeROSE:  Then why did you still participate with the Towers Watson study, if you aren't going to look at it or review it or consider it? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not saying that we would never look at it.  We continue to participate and -- which allows us to have access to that data. 


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate your indulgence.


MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose. 
Procedural Matters:

We have two matters that we would like to announce.


One is there is still the matter of the KPMG report, where we did have submissions on confidentiality.  You look puzzled, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  I totally forgot.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Do you know the reference number, Mr. Millar? 


MR. MILLAR:  Not off the top of my head, no.


MS. HARE:  Well, the Board has decided that the proposed redactions to that report are appropriate, and they will remain confidential. 


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Sorry.


When I said that, I thought there were additional submissions you were expecting, and that would have caught me by surprise.


MS. HARE:  No, no.  That one is now done.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I do have the exhibit references now.  It's K3.1 and K3.2.  And K3.3, I'm sorry.


MS. HARE:  So the proposed redactions we have determined are to remain confidential. 


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Then there is the letter that we received the other day from the Electric Utility Cost Group Inc., objecting to our saying that the report could be on the public record. 


That decision was made based on two factors.  One is the Board's attempt to have as many things on the public record as possible, but we also had thought that no party would be identifiable from the raw data.


And the letter -- I think people have got this letter -- the letter disagrees with that and makes the point that it can be backward-engineered and that it is possible to see at least some of the companies, who they are. 


And so we would like to take submissions -- I think it was only Schools that actually participated last time.  So we would like to take submissions on that matter some time on Thursday.


Okay?  Thank you. 


MS. DUFF:  Was this letter given an exhibit number?  Should it? 


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we mark it just for convenience.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if I could just make a request.  This is so we can better assist the Board with our submissions.

I read this letter as well, and I think the -- I think the exact wording was that it would be reverse-engineered by a competent professional person to discern the identities of the utilities which participated in the study.  I am at least not competent enough to be able to do it.  And I was wondering if OPG, as they have the relationship with, EUCG could help us understand how that is possible.

It might also change our position towards the issue if we can -- to me it is just a blanket statement from a party objecting.  I want to understand how much truth there is to that statement.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  I think that is fine if you are prepared to do that on Thursday.

MR. SMITH:  We will make an enquiry.  I mean, I had earlier indicated it was not our intention to take a position.  I feel like we took a position.

MS. HARE:  Yes, right.

MR. SMITH:  And that was the end of the matter from OPG's perspective.  I am not interested in fighting somebody else's fight.  But we can make an enquiry as to what they mean by that statement and if there is more they can add, but I just want it to be clear I wasn't proposing to make submissions on EUCG's behalf.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  I think Board Staff may have a submission on this matter as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess that is possible.  But for now we will mark the letter as an exhibit as you suggested.  K9.4 is the letter from the Electric Utility Cost Group dated June 23rd, 2014.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  LETTER FROM THE ELECTRIC UTILITY COST GROUP DATED JUNE 23RD, 2014.

MS. HARE:  I'm sorry.  K9.4?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  The one thing I can certainly undertake to do, Madam Chair, is to advise the contact we have with EUCG of the Board's decision, and the request that there will be submissions on Thursday, and they will -- they may or may not decide that they want to provide further information.

MS. HARE:  And just to be clear, the only issue we're interested in is whether or not that information can be reverse-engineered so that the identity can be made available.

MR. SMITH:  I understand.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  So -- oh, sorry.  One more thing.  Ms. McShane will be here on Thursday.  Would it be preferable to start with her to make sure that she is completed her testimony on Thursday?

We are indifferent whether or not we continue with this panel or whether we skip to her to make sure that she is done.  Why don't you think about it.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we start with her.  I mean, I think that it should be fine.  There is, I believe, something like two-and-a-half to three hours of cross-examination.  If we push it with lunch and breaks sometimes it gets tight, so why don't we start with her, if that is okay.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  That's fine.  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:48 p.m.
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